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PART I OVERVIEW 

1. This action—both the pleadings of every one of the parties and several of the 

expert reports served by Six Nations of the Grand River Band of Indians (“Six 

Nations”)—directly implicates the history, rights, and treaties of the Mississaugas of the 

Credit First Nation (“MCFN”). Moreover, the story of MCFN history—and of MCFN’s 

traditional territory—that is advanced by Six Nations and its experts fundamentally 

deviates from history as MCFN understands it. Profound prejudice would be suffered 

by MCFN if the narrative advanced by Six Nations and its experts were to be adopted 

by this Court without MCFN ever being afforded an opportunity to tell its own story, in 

its own words, from its own perspective. 

2. Accordingly, MCFN seeks leave to intervene in this action as an added 

defendant. MCFN’s intention is to participate in the fact-finding process to provide 

evidence on MCFN’s history, its rights, and its interests. MCFN does not seek to litigate 

its own claims against the Crown and—if leave to intervene is granted—will not 

advance any counter or cross claims. Rather, MCFN seeks to intervene as a steward of 

its history and as the guardian of its people’s future. 

3. MCFN supports Six Nations’ decades-long effort to hold the Crown accountable 

for its abuses relating to the mismanagement of Six Nations’ lands. But it cannot sit on 

the sidelines while Six Nations, The Attorney General of Canada (“Canada”), and His 

Majesty the King in Right of Ontario (“Ontario”) litigate MCFN history and rights 

before this Court. MCFN seeks a seat at the table. 
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PART II FACTS 

4. MCFN is an Indigenous community of Anishinaabe people and one of the 

“aboriginal peoples of Canada” under section 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982 

(“Section 35”).1 MCFN’s traditional and treaty territory extends from the Rouge River 

Valley in the east, across to the headwaters of the Thames River, down to Long Point on 

Lake Erie and back along the shores of Lake Erie, the Niagara River and Lake Ontario 

to the Rouge River (“MCFN Territory”).2 MCFN Territory encompasses Six Nations’ 

reserve and the “Haldimand Tract”—the lands that are the subject of this action. 

5. MCFN possesses Aboriginal and treaty rights throughout MCFN Territory. 

These include governance and stewardship rights, which imbue MCFN with the 

authority and responsibility to care for MCFN Territory for future generations, and 

harvesting—including hunting and fishing—and economic rights, which entitle MCFN 

to sustain its people from these lands and to share in wealth generated within MCFN 

Territory. MCFN also holds Aboriginal title, including to lands within the Rouge River 

Valley, as well as to all water, land under water, and floodplains within MCFN 

Territory, including the Grand River and its riverbed.3 Prior to settlement by Europeans, 

MCFN exclusively occupied and controlled MCFN Territory, including the Grand 

River Valley and the lands that were subsequently granted to Six Nations by the British 

 
1  Affidavit of Chief R. Stacey Laforme, affirmed December 2, 2022, at para 1 
(“Chief Laforme Affidavit”) [Motion Record of Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation, 
dated March 2, 2023 (“MCFN MR”), Tab 2 at 21]; Constitution Act, 1982, being 
Schedule B to the Canada Act 1982 (UK), 1982, c 11, s 35. 
2  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 4 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 22]. 
3  Chief Laforme Affidavit at paras 27–31 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 30–31]. 

https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/Const/page-13.html#h-53
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Crown through the Haldimand Proclamation. As MCFN Chief Laforme testified, 

MCFN is “the sole Indigenous people with treaties within and respecting” these lands.4 

A. The history, rights, and interests of MCFN are central to this action 

i) Six Nations asserts its traditional and treaty territory overlay MCFN 
Territory 

6. Since time immemorial, MCFN5 and other Anishinaabeg nations have lived 

upon and occupied lands and waters in what is now Ontario.6 MCFN’s territory 

historically included lands north and west of Lake Ontario as well as lands along 

Georgian Bay and the north shore of Lake Huron.7 Canada and Ontario’s pleadings 

endorse this understanding of MCFN and Anishinaabeg history and both governments 

rely on it in their defence of this action.8 Canada pleads that “[f]rom at least the early 

1700s the lands south of the [Grand River] headwaters, down to Lake Erie, were 

occupied by the Anishnaabeg (Mississauga),”9 while Ontario pleads that “[i]n 1763 the 

lands in question were occupied and used by the Mississauga Indians.”10 

 
4  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 18 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 27]. 
5  In this factum, MCFN and its predecessors are together referred to as “MCFN.” 
6  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 19 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 28]. 
7  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 19 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 28]. 
8  Fresh as Amended Statement of Defence of the Attorney General of Canada, 
dated August 31, 2020, at paras 12, 75 (“Canada SOD”); Amended Statement of 
Defence and Crossclaim of the Defendant Her Majesty the Queen In Right of Ontario, 
amended August 31, 2020, at paras 10, 13–15 (“Ontario SOD”). 
9  Canada SOD at para 12. 
10  Ontario SOD at para 10. 
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7. In the 1600s, the Haudenosaunee—one of whose successors is Six Nations—

attempted to take by force the territory of MCFN and other Anishinaabeg nations in 

what is now Ontario.11 At the time of the invasion, Haudenosaunee territory was located 

south of Lake Ontario and east of the Niagara River in what is now the United States.12 

8. In response to this threat from the south, MCFN left settlements on Lake Huron 

to repel the Haudenosaunee invaders in a protracted conflict known as the Beaver 

Wars.13 MCFN fought—alongside other Anishinaabeg nations—and defeated the 

Haudenosaunee in the battlefield, driving them back to what is now the United States.14 

In their Statements of Defence, Canada and Ontario plead this history, stating “Six 

Nations may have intermittently occupied some of the lands that are the subject of this 

action in the 1600s … [but] were driven out of the area in the latter part of that century 

by the Anishinaabeg”15 and “the only presence of the Six Nations or their predecessors 

in what is now Ontario … was military incursion and other conflict with the Indian 

inhabitants from time to time, especially from about 1640 to about 1700.”16 

9. In 1700, MCFN and other Anishinaabeg nations met with the Haudenosaunee to 

negotiate an agreement following the Haudenosaunee’s defeat in the Beaver Wars.17 

 
11  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 20 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 28]. 
12  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 20 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 28]. 
13  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 21 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 28]. 
14  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 21 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 28]. 
15  Canada SOD at para 75. 
16  Ontario SOD at para 13 [emphasis omitted]. 
17  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 34 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 32]. 
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Anishinaabeg nations and the Haudenosaunee reached a peace agreement known as the 

Dish with One Spoon, which set out the terms upon which they would respect each 

other’s territories. Among other things, the Dish with One Spoon stipulated the 

Haudenosaunee could pass through and use MCFN Territory with MCFN consent.18 

10. In 1701, Anishinaabeg nations, including MCFN, the Haudenosaunee, and the 

French convened in Montreal to engage in further peace discussions.19 Attendees 

reaffirmed the Dish with One Spoon and entered into a further agreement: the Great 

Peace of Montreal.20 Like the Dish with One Spoon, the Great Peace of Montreal did 

not grant ownership or control over MCFN Territory to the Haudenosaunee.21 

11. After the Beaver Wars, the Haudenosaunee did not return to MCFN Territory in 

any permanent way for more than 80 years, when Six Nations migrated to the Grand 

River Valley from the United States after the American Revolution.22 

12. While the pleadings of Ontario and Canada largely agree with MCFN’s 

understanding of its history, Six Nations pleads, and its experts23 proffer, a starkly 

 
18  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 34 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 32]. 
19  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 35 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 32–33]. 
20  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 35 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 32–33]. 
21  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 35 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 32–33]. 
22  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 37 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 33]. 
23  On May 4, 2022, Ontario provided MCFN three expert reports prepared by Six 
Nations for this action—(1) the report of Dr. Jon Parmenter, dated March 2022 
(“Parmenter Report”); (2) the report of Dr. Alan Taylor, dated March 28, 2022 (“Taylor 
Report”); and (3) the report of Dr. Reginald Good, dated March 30, 2022 (“Good 
Report,” together the “Six Nations Expert Reports”): Affidavit of John Wilson, affirmed 
February 28, 2023, at para 6 (“Wilson Affidavit”) [MCFN MR, Tab 3 at 130]. Relevant 
excerpts of the Parmenter Report (“Parmenter Report Excerpts”) [continues next page], 
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different version of events. This alternate narrative minimizes the role of MCFN as 

steward and sole occupier of its territory. Significantly, Six Nations rejects the 

proposition that southern Ontario, including the Grand River Valley, was the exclusive 

territory of MCFN. Six Nations pleads instead that “[i]n the eighteenth century and 

from time immemorial, the Six Nations … occupied, possessed or used very large 

territories in what is today the United States of America and the Provinces of Ontario 

and Quebec (the “Six Nations Aboriginal Lands”).”24 Six Nations further pleads that the 

portion of MCFN Territory in the Grand River Valley subject to the Haldimand 

Proclamation was “a large tract of land within the Six Nations Aboriginal Lands.”25 

13. Rather than acknowledging their defeat at the hands of the Anishinaabeg, 

including MCFN, Six Nations characterizes the Beaver Wars as leading to 

Haudenosaunee sovereignty over MCFN Territory. The Six Nations Expert Reports 

assert that as a result of Haudenosaunee military victories, “[b]y 1666, the boundaries of 

Hodenosaunee sovereign territory … included the entire Grand River Valley.”26 

14. The Six Nations Expert Reports opine the Dish with One Spoon “is crucial to 

the post-1700 history of Haudenosaunee use and occupancy of modern southern 

 
Good Report (“Good Report Excerpts”), and Taylor Report (“Taylor Report Excerpts”) 
are attached as Exhibit E to the Wilson Affidavit [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 150–369]. 
24  Further Amended Statement of Claim, filed October 5, 2020, at para 11 
(“2020 Amended SOC”). 
25  2020 Amended SOC at para 13. 
26  Good Report Excerpts at 3–4, paras 33, 36–39 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 153–
154]. See also Parmenter Report Excerpts at 101–105 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 251–255]. 
See also Taylor Report Excerpts at 8–10, para 82 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 158–160]. 
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Ontario” and did not “indicate a surrender of Haudenosaunee sovereignty over lands 

north of Lake Ontario.”27 The Parmenter Report expressly dismisses MCFN’s 

understanding that the Dish with One Spoon enshrined “Mississauga proprietorship 

over the territory north of Lake Ontario.”28 Likewise, the Taylor Report asserts MCFN 

and the Haudenosaunee “agreed to share the region,”29 including “sovereignty”30 or 

“ownership to the entire Grand River Valley from mouth to source.”31  

ii) Six Nations asserts the Nanfan Deed is a treaty that guarantees Six 
Nations rights to land in MCFN Territory 

15. At the same time as peace discussions were taking place in Montreal, Lieutenant 

Governor John Nanfan, the representative of the British Crown in New York, asked for 

a meeting with the Haudenosaunee in Albany.32 The Haudenosaunee sent a small 

delegation to meet with Lieutenant Governor Nanfan and on July 19, 1701, these parties 

signed a document known as the Nanfan Deed, referred to by Six Nations as the 

“Albany Treaty” or “Nanfan Treaty,”33 under which the Haudenosaunee purported to 

 
27  Parmenter Report Excerpts at 61 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 211]. 
28  Parmenter Report Excerpts at 66 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 216]. 
29  Taylor Report Excerpts at 8 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 158]. See also Affidavit of 
Mark Hill, affirmed on February 6, 2023, at para 7 (“Chief Hill Affidavit”) [Responding 
Motion Record of the Plaintiff, dated February 6, 2023 (“Six Nations MR”), Tab 1 at 3]; 
Taylor Report Excerpts at 9–10, 101, paras 82–83, 86 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 159–160, 
251]; Parmenter Report Excerpts at 66–67, 125–126 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 216–217, 
275–276]. 
30  Taylor Report Excerpts at 202, para 85 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 352]. 
31  Taylor Report Excerpts at 203, para 89 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 353]. 
32  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 36 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 33]. 
33  Chief Hill Affidavit at para 10 [Six Nations MR, Tab 1 at 4]. 
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place MCFN Territory—the very lands from which the Haudenosaunee were expelled 

at the end of the Beaver Wars—under British protection.34 The Nanfan Deed never had 

legal force or effect, let alone status as a treaty.35 

16. In the Reply, Six Nations pleads the opposite: “[t]he Six Nations’ Indigenous 

lands for hunting, trapping, fishing, harvesting and trading, including in the Grand River 

valley, were specifically recognized by and undertaken to be protected by the British 

Imperial Crown in the Albany Treaty of 1701.”36 The Six Nations Expert Reports 

devote significant efforts to trying to show this was the effect of the Nanfan Deed.37 

17. The Good Report states, “the Grand River Valley was located within the 

geographical boundaries of particular hunting grounds, reserved for the Six Nations 

exclusive use under the Albany Treaty of 1701,”38 which “protected the exercise of 

Hodenosaunee sovereignty on conquered lands.”39 The Parmenter Report similarly 

states, “[t]hrough the 1701 Nanfan Treaty the Haudenosaunee sought Crown protection 

of the southwestern portion of their ‘Beaver Hunting Grounds’ to supplement the access 

 
34  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 36 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 33]. 
35  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 36 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 33]. 
36  Reply to the Fresh as Amended Statement of Defence of the Attorney General of 
Canada and to the Amended Statement of Defence of Her Majesty The Queen In Right 
of Ontario, dated September 30, 2020, at para 8 (“Reply”). 
37  For example, see Good Report Excerpts at 1, 73, 78, 79, paras 15, 74–77, 103, 
105 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 151, 223, 228, 229]; Parmenter Report Excerpts at 33, 36, 
61, 101, 121, 125, 157–158 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 183, 186, 211, 251, 271, 275, 307–
308]; Taylor Report Excerpts at 100–101, 203–204, paras 84, 89 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E 
at 250–251, 353–354]. 
38  Good Report Excerpts at 1, para 15 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 151]. 
39  Good Report Excerpts at 79, para 105 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 229]. 
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they secured to the northeastern portion of their hunting territories via the ‘Dish with 

One Spoon’ treaty (ratified at Montréal on August 4, 1701).”40 

18. The Taylor Report is even more emphatic: “[i]n a … treaty made at Albany 

in 1701, the British Empire (through John Nanfan, the governor of New York) 

guaranteed Haudenosaunee sovereignty to the region north and west of Lake Ontario 

against French intrusions”;41 “the Albany Treaty of 1701 had guaranteed the 

Haudenosaunee possession of the vast region north and west of Lake Ontario”;42 and 

“[t]he Crown had recognized the Six Nations ownership to the region in the Treaty of 

Albany of 1701.”43 

19. Nearly one hundred pages of the Six Nations Expert Reports are aimed at 

establishing a factual foundation showing that the Nanfan Deed is in fact a treaty.44 

iii) Six Nations asserts MCFN’s Between the Lakes Treaty is a “Quit 
Claim”45 

20. On October 7, 1763, King George III issued a Royal Proclamation (“Royal 

Proclamation”). The Royal Proclamation recognized the pre-existing rights and 

sovereignty of Indigenous peoples and established that such rights could be ceded only 

 
40  Parmenter Report Excerpts at 127 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 277]. See also 
Parmenter Report Excerpts at 101, 121 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 251, 271]. 
41  Taylor Report Excerpts at 100, para 84 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 250]. 
42  Taylor Report Excerpts at 101, para 86 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 251]. 
43  Taylor Report Excerpts at 203, para 89 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 353]. 
44  Parmenter Report Excerpts at 109–175 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 259–325]. 
45  See in particular Good Report Excerpts at 184–187, paras 347–363 [MCFN MR, 
Tab 3E at 334–337].  
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to the Crown. In doing so, the Royal Proclamation confirmed that the Crown was solely 

responsible for treaty making.46 In the decades following the Royal Proclamation, the 

Crown pursued lands from MCFN to accommodate an influx of settlers emigrating 

north after the American Revolution.47 

21. At the end of the American Revolution, Six Nations—who had fought alongside 

the British in the war—found their territory under American control.48 In 1784, in 

recognition of Six Nations’ support, the Crown offered to resettle Six Nations in the 

Grand River Valley.49 At that time, the Crown did not have rights to the lands upon 

which Six Nations would settle under the Crown’s proposal.50 To give effect to its 

promise, the Crown sought rights to those lands from MCFN for the use of Six Nations 

and other loyalists migrating to Canada.51 Consistent with this, Canada pleads that “[i]n 

1784 the British Imperial Crown negotiated a surrender from the Mississauga of the 

land below the headwaters of the Grand River to Lake Erie in order to give the land to 

those members of the Six Nations who had been allied to it.”52 Similarly, Ontario pleads 

that “the lands to which the Haldimand Proclamation authorized and permitted 

 
46  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 38 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 33–34]. 
47  Between 1781 and 1820, MCFN and the Crown entered into a series of treaties 
respecting MCFN Territory. These treaties are canvassed in the Chief Laforme 
Affidavit at paras 38–62 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 33–41]. 
48  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 44 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 35]. 
49  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 44 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 35]. 
50  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 45 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 35–36]. 
51  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 45 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 35–36]. 
52  Canada SOD para 14. 
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members of the Six Nations to migrate and to possess and settle were lands within the 

tract that had been purchased by the Imperial Crown from the Mississaugas.”53 

22. In 1784, MCFN agreed to transfer rights to lands between Lake Erie and Lake 

Huron, including lands along the Grand River Valley, to the Crown. This agreement 

was enshrined in the Between the Lakes Treaty.54 Under this treaty, MCFN did not 

surrender Aboriginal title to water, land under water, or floodplains, nor did it agree to 

cease exercising Aboriginal rights.55 As of 1784, lands north of the Between the Lakes 

Treaty—including the headwaters of the Grand River—were unceded by MCFN and 

other Anishinaabeg nations.  

23. Six Nations asserts a drastically different narrative. In the Reply, Six Nations 

pleads the Between the Lakes Treaty is a “quit claim in favour of the Six Nations.”56 

The Six Nations Expert Reports assert the same,57 and assert the Crown’s request to 

 
53  Ontario SOD para 16. 
54  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 46 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 36]. 
55  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 31 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 31]. 
56  Reply at para 7. In 1792, because of an error in the boundary description in the 
Between the Lakes Treaty, a new treaty was prepared setting out a revised description. 
MCFN confirmed the new treaty, known as Purchase No. 3: Chief Laforme Affidavit 
at para 47 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 36]. Like their characterization of the Between the 
Lakes Treaty, the Six Nations Expert Reports similarly characterize the Purchase No. 3 
Treaty as a “quit claim:” Good Report Excerpts at 190–193, paras 364–376 [MCFN 
MR, Tab 3E at 340–343]; Taylor Report Excerpts at 205–206, paras 113–116 [MCFN 
MR, Tab 3E at 355–356]. 
57  Good Report Excerpts at 177, 180, 182, 185, 186, 187, 190, 196, paras 330, 337, 
344, 348, 358, 360, 365–366, 407 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 327, 330, 332, 335, 336, 337, 
340, 346]; Taylor Report Excerpts at 199, 203–204, paras 32–33, 88–89 [MCFN MR, 
Tab 3E at 349, 353–354]. 
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treat for lands in the Between the Lakes Treaty “puzzled [MCFN] for, as they 

explained, the Haudenosaunee already held an equal share to the valley.”58 

24. The Good Report asserts the Between the Lakes Treaty is “tripartite” and 

extinguished any interest in the lands treated for—including “lands covered by water”59 

and the “source of the Grand River,”60 which the Good Report acknowledges “was 

located within the traditional hunting grounds of the Credit River Mississaugas”61—and 

that MCFN agreed to cease exercising Aboriginal rights: 

What the Crown actually purchased was a quit-claim from the 
Mississaugas, with whom the Six Nations had shared the use of the 
Grand River Valley from approximately 1701. Agents or servants of the 
Crown concluded a tripartite treaty with the Six Nations and the 
Mississaugas on or about 22 May 1784. By this treaty, the Mississaugas 
quit-claimed all their interests in particular lands, including those 
selected by the Six Nations as relocated sovereign territory for their 
resettlement following the American Revolution. Pursuant to this treaty, 
the Mississaugas undertook to cease exercising customary hunting and 
ancillary interests within the area selected by the Six Nations as 
relocated sovereign territory for their resettlement.62 

 
58  Taylor Report Excerpts at 8, 202, para 85 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 158, 352]. See 
also Parmenter Report Excerpts at 216 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 366]; Good Report 
Excerpts at 177, para 331 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 327]. 
59  Good Report Excerpts at 185, paras 348, 351–352 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 335]. 
60  Good Report Excerpts at 182, para 344 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 332]. 
61  Good Report Excerpts at 185, para 353 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 335]. 
62  Good Report Excerpts at 177, para 330 [citations omitted] [MCFN MR, Tab 3E 
at 327]. See also Good Report Excerpts at 1, para 16 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 151].  
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25. The Good Report further asserts, “[t]he oral history of the Mississaugas … 

explicitly states that the Mississaugas did not want to be paid for their interest in the 

‘Grand River tract’, which the Six Nations selected for their resettlement.”63 

26. The Parmenter Report opines that:  

[t]he Mississaugas’ surrender of land in modern southern Ontario to the 
Crown on May 22, 1784 entailed a tract far larger than that which was 
eventually granted along the Grand River to the Haudenosaunee, and 
therefore we should not read into that purchase any intent on the part of 
Crown authorities regarding a perceived need to clear Mississauga title 
to the Grand River tract prior to deeding that land to the 
Haudenosaunee.64 

27. These views conflict with MCFN’s understanding of its treaty with the Crown.65 

iv) Six Nations asserts the Haldimand Proclamation is a treaty that 
guarantees Six Nations’ rights respecting land in MCFN Territory 

28. After the Crown acquired rights to the Grand River Valley, it granted six miles 

on either side of the Grand River—extending from Lake Erie to the northern border of 

the Between the Lakes Treaty—to Six Nations under the Haldimand Proclamation of 

1784.66 These lands bisect MCFN Territory. 

 
63  Good Report Excerpts at 177, para 331 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 327]. 
64  Parmenter Report Excerpts at 217 [citations omitted] [MCFN MR, Tab 3E 
at 367]. See also Parmenter Report Excerpts at 218, footnote 352 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E 
at 368]. 
65  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 41 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 34]. 
66  Between the Lakes Treaty and Purchase No. 3 [MCFN MR, Tab 2G at 72–74]; 
Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 46 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 36]. 
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29. MCFN—like Canada and Ontario—denies the Haldimand Proclamation is a 

treaty under Section 35.67 Six Nations pleads it is.68 The Six Nations Expert Reports 

support Six Nations’ pleading. The Good Report asserts, “Crown officials consistently 

recognized the Haldimand Proclamation as a binding, nation-to-nation agreement – 

which they often referred to as a Treaty, or part of a Treaty.”69 

30. The Six Nations Expert Reports also link the Haldimand Proclamation to the 

Nanfan Deed. The Parmenter Report asserts, “the Haldimand Proclamation of 1784 

represents the deferred fulfillment by the British Crown of a portion of its commitments 

to the Haudenosaunee as articulated in the 1701 Nanfan Treaty.”70 The Taylor Report 

asserts, “the British in the Albany Treaty of 1701 had guaranteed the Haudenosaunee 

possession of the vast region north and west of Lake Ontario. Consequently, 

Haldimand’s grant did not initiate, but instead enhanced, the Six Nations’ ownership to 

that valley by promising them a Crown title.”71 

 
67  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 18 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 27]; Canada SOD 
at para 77; Ontario SOD at para 17. 
68  2020 Amended SOC at para 15. In addition to the Nanfan Deed and the 
Haldimand Proclamation, the Six Nations Expert Reports assert various other treaties 
ground Six Nations rights or interests in lands within MCFN Territory, including, for 
example, the Albany Treaty of 1726 and 1768 Treaty of Fort Stanwix: Good Report 
Excerpts at 87–88, paras 119–127 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 237–238]; Taylor Report 
Excerpts at 100, para 48 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 250]. 
69  Good Report Excerpts at 96, 98, 99–100, paras 389, 400, 411 [MCFN MR, 
Tab 3E at 246, 248, 249–250]. 
70  Parmenter Report Excerpts at 105 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 255]. 
71  Taylor Report Excerpts at 101, para 86 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 251]. 
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31. The rights that the Six Nations Expert Reports assert the Haldimand 

Proclamation enshrines are significant, referring to the land contemplated under the 

Haldimand Proclamation as the “relocated sovereign territory” of Six Nations,72 and 

asserting the Haldimand Proclamation “dedicated the Haldimand Proclamation lands to 

the Six Nations sovereign jurisdiction.”73 The Parmenter Report concludes, “there can 

be no question that the Haldimand Proclamation of 1784 embodied Crown recognition 

of the sovereign nationhood of the Haudenosaunee.”74 

32. Additionally, Six Nations pleads the Haldimand Proclamation had the effect of 

granting to Six Nations 275,000 acres of land north of the boundary of the Between the 

Lakes Treaty.75 These are the lands in relation to which the Good Report concludes 

MCFN extinguished its interests in the Between the Lakes Treaty.76 From MCFN’s 

perspective, in 1784, these 275,000 acres were unceded lands of MCFN and other 

Anishinaabeg nations. They were not treated for until 1818.77 

 
72  Good Report Excerpts at 1, 70, 93, 94, 95, 177–178, 180, 181, 182, 186–187, 
196, paras 9–11, 16, 286, 295, 311, 328, 330, 332, 335, 337, 341, 343, 345, 356, 358, 
360, 361, 363, 384–385, 407 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 151, 220, 243, 244, 245, 327–328, 
330, 331, 332, 336–337, 346]. 
73  Good Report Excerpts at 96, 97, 99, paras 388, 393, 404 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E 
at 246, 247, 249]. 
74  Parmenter Report Excerpts at 107 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 257]. 
75  2020 Amended SOC at para 17. 
76  Good Report Excerpts at 192, para 375 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 342]. See also 
Good Report Excerpts at 182, para 344 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 332]. 
77  In October 1818, the Chippewa of Lakes Huron and Simcoe ceded territory 
spanning roughly from Georgian Bay in the north to the present-day border between 
Simcoe County and Peel Region in the south under Treaty No. 18. Later that month, 
MCFN entered into Ajetance Treaty No. 19, which addressed lands south of 
Treaty No. 18 and north of MCFN lands previously treated for [continues next page]   
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B. MCFN and the Crown are rebuilding a nation-to-nation relationship 

33. The Crown’s treaty promises to MCFN have gone largely unfulfilled. MCFN 

has been progressively dispossessed of its lands and resources, displaced within its own 

territory, and deprived of any share of the wealth and benefits that others have taken.78 

34. On April 6, 2015, MCFN notified the Crown of its claim of Aboriginal title to 

land in and around the Rouge River Valley as well as to all water, land under water, and 

floodplains in MCFN Territory, including the Grand River and its riverbed.79 MCFN 

submitted these claims to the Crown for negotiation, which are ongoing.80 

35. In recent years, MCFN has also entered into various agreements with the Crown 

establishing negotiations and other processes to settle MCFN’s outstanding claims, 

achieve recognition of MCFN’s Section 35 rights, and implement the Crown’s treaty 

 
in the Head of the Lake Treaty No. 14: Chief Laforme Affidavit at paras 57–58 [MCFN 
MR, Tab 2 at 39–40]. 
78  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 68 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 42–43]. 
79  Letter from Chief B. Laforme to the Honourable B. Valcourt and the 
Honourable D. Zimmer (6 April 2015) [MCFN MR, Tab 2B at 51–53]. 
80  Chief Laforme Affidavit at para 31 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 31]; MCFN Statement 
of Claim Submitted to the Government of Canada and to the Government of Ontario 
(31 March 2015) [Six Nations MR, Tab 2F at 69]. On December 17, 2020, MCFN 
issued a claim against the Crown in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice in respect of 
its Aboriginal title to water within MCFN Territory. That claim was put into abeyance 
on April 26, 2021, while the parties pursue settlement negotiations: MCFN Statement of 
Claim issued December 17, 2020 (Toronto Court File No. CV-20-00653346-0000) [Six 
Nations MR, Tab 2D at 43]; Order of Justice Chalmers dated April 26, 2021 (Toronto 
Court File No. CV-20-00653346-0000) [Six Nations MR, Tab 2E at 65]. The substance 
of negotiations on these claims is confidential and subject to settlement privilege. 
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and other constitutional obligations to MCFN.81 The scope and content of the processes 

established under these agreements—and others—are determined, in part, by MCFN’s 

Aboriginal and treaty rights, its claims against the Crown, and the scope and content of 

the Crown’s duties to MCFN that flow from the honour of the Crown. Reaching 

shared—and accurate—understandings between MCFN and the Crown of MCFN’s 

history is central to advancing reconciliation under these processes. 

C. MCFN seeks leave to intervene to protect is history, rights, and interests 

36. Despite the inextricability of MCFN, its rights, and its history from this action, 

Six Nations never once provided notice to MCFN of this action’s potential to impact its 

rights and interests in the nearly three decades since this action was commenced.82 

37. In January 2022, MCFN wrote to Justice Sanfilippo requesting an invitation to 

case conferences.83 Six Nations vigorously opposed the request;84 however, the parties 

agreed to defer the issue of MCFN’s attendance at case conferences until the 

 
81  These agreements include, but are not limited to, the Memorandum of 
Understanding—Recognition of Indigenous Rights and Self-Determination Table, dated 
June 9, 2017, the Consultation Protocol Agreement, dated September 6, 2018, and the 
Preliminary Agreement to Advance Reconciliation and Establish a Renewed 
Relationship, dated August 28, 2019: Chief Laforme Affidavit at paras 72–74 [MCFN 
MR, Tab 2 at 44–45]. 
82  Transcript of the Cross-Examination (“Tr C-X”) of Chief Hill (16 March 2023) 
at 11:5–25 to 13:1–10. 
83  Letter from N. Frame to O. Scolieri (6 January 2022) [MCFN MR, Tab 3A 
at 134–135]. 
84  Case Management Endorsement (Revised) (24 January 2022) at para 8 [MCFN 
MR, Tab 3C at 142]; Case Management Endorsement (2 March 2022) at paras 7–9 
[MCFN MR, Tab 3D at 146]. 
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completion of an “issues list,” which—despite the passage of more than a year—has yet 

to be finalized.85 

38. On May 4, 2022, Ontario provided MCFN the Six Nations Expert Reports.86 

These reports reference MCFN dozens of times and include hundreds of pages relating 

to MCFN’s history within Ontario, MCFN’s agreements with the Haudenosaunee, Six 

Nations’ alleged treaties within MCFN Territory, and MCFN’s treaties with the 

Crown.87 The Six Nations Expert Reports vastly expand on issues raised briefly, 

generically, or in passing in the pleadings and are deeply alarming to MCFN. 

39. On October 27, 2022, MCFN served a notice of motion for leave to intervene.88 

PART III ISSUES 

40. The sole issue before this Court is whether MCFN ought to be granted leave to 

intervene as an added party under Rule 13.01. MCFN satisfies the requirements of 

Rule 13.01 and ought to be granted leave to intervene as an added defendant. 

 
85  Case Management Endorsement (2 March 2022) at para 9 [MCFN MR, Tab 3D, 
at 146]. 
86  Wilson Affidavit at para 6 [MCFN MR, Tab 3 at 130]; Case Management 
Endorsement (28 September 2022) at paras 31–32 [MCFN MR, Tab 3G at 384–385]; 
Case Management Conference Endorsement (19 December 2022), 2022 ONSC 7158 
at para 30. 
87  Table of Excerpts of the Parmenter Report, Taylor Report, and Good Report 
[MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 151–369]. 
88  Notice of Motion, dated October 27, 2022 [MCFN MR, Tab 1 at 16]. 

https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2022/2022onsc7158/2022onsc7158.html#par30
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PART IV LAW AND ARGUMENT 

A. Test for leave to intervene under Rule 13.01 

41. A proposed intervener may move to intervene as a party under Rule 13.01(1): 

13.01 (1) A person who is not a party to a proceeding may move for 
leave to intervene as an added party if the person claims, 

(a) an interest in the subject matter of the proceeding; 

(b) that the person may be adversely affected by a judgment in 
the proceeding; or 

(c) that there exists between the person and one or more of the 
parties to the proceeding a question of law or fact in common 
with one or more of the questions in issue in the proceeding.89 

42. Only one element of Rule 13.01(1) must be satisfied.90 The factors to be 

considered are: (1) the nature of the case; (2) the issues which arise; and (3) the 

likelihood of the applicant being able to make a useful contribution to the resolution of 

the matter without causing injustice to the immediate parties91—in other words, 

“whether the intervention will unduly delay or prejudice the determination of the rights 

of the parties” under Rule 13.01(2).92 

 
89  Rules of Civil Procedure, RRO 1990, Reg 194, Rule 13.01(1) (“ROCP”). 
90  Feldberg v Andrews, 2021 ONSC 1099 at para 5 [Feldberg]. 
91  Peel (Regional Municipality) v Great Atlantic & Pacific Co of Canada Ltd 
(1990), 74 OR (2d) 164 at para 10 (CA); Halpern v Toronto (City) Clerk (2000), 51 OR 
(3d) 742 at para 17 (SC DC). 
92  ROCP, Rule 13.01(2); Feldberg at para 5. 

https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/900194#BK97
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2021/2021onsc1099/2021onsc1099.html#par5
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onca/doc/1990/1990canlii6886/1990canlii6886.html#:%7E:text=Although%20much%20has,the%20immediate%20parties
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onscdc/doc/2000/2000canlii29029/2000canlii29029.html#par17
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/900194#BK97
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2021/2021onsc1099/2021onsc1099.html#par5
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B. This action is of a public and constitutional nature 

43. This action has an unquestionably public and constitutional nature. “[W]here 

constitutional cases and those involving elements of public interest are before the court, 

the approach to intervention tends to be a more relaxed one”93 or “may be softened 

somewhat.”94 A softened threshold—while not necessary for MCFN to satisfy the 

test—is appropriate in this case. 

44. Based on both the pleadings and the historical issues opined on in the Six 

Nations Expert Reports, this action will call upon this Court to make findings of fact 

and law that engage the history and rights of MCFN—including Section 35 rights—

spanning nearly 400 years. Regardless of the relief sought by Six Nations, these 

findings will bind Canada and Ontario who—as the Crown—owe constitutional duties 

to MCFN. For MCFN, the scope and content of these duties—such as the duty to 

consult and accommodate and the duty to negotiate—are informed by the very history 

to be litigated in this action. 

C. Rule 13.01(1)(a): MCFN has an unquestionable interest in this action 

45. In Butty v. Butty, the Ontario Court of Appeal endorsed a liberal approach to the 

application of Rule 13.01(1)(a).95 Unlike Rule 13.01(1)(b), Rule 13.01(1)(a) does not 

 
93  Terratec Environmental Ltd v Melancthon (Township), 2003 CarswellOnt 4319 
at para 12 (ONSC) [Book of Authorities (“BA”), Tab 3]. 
94  Jones v Tsige, 106 OR (3d) 721 at para 23 (CA); Render v ThyssenKrupp 
Elevator, 2018 ONSC 3182 at para 8 [Render]. 
95  Butty v Butty (2009), 98 OR (3d) 713 at para 8 (CA). 

https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onca/doc/2011/2011canlii99894/2011canlii99894.html#par23
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2018/2018onsc3182/2018onsc3182.html#par8
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onca/doc/2009/2009canlii92125/2009canlii92125.html#par8
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depend on a legal right; an interest in a broad and practical sense suffices.96 MCFN and 

its history are at the centre of this action. MCFN has an interest in participating in the 

fact-finding process to ensure its perspectives on its own history are before this Court. 

46. In this action, Six Nations, Canada, and Ontario introduce four main issues—

and numerous sub-issues—relating to MCFN’s history, the history of MCFN Territory, 

and the interpretation of MCFN’s treaties with the Crown: 

a) The historic use, occupation, and control of MCFN Territory by MCFN 

and Six Nations;97 

b) The nature, scope, and meaning of agreements between MCFN and Six 

Nations with respect to MCFN Territory;98 

c) The interpretation and effect of agreements between Six Nations and the 

Crown relating to MCFN Territory, and whether such agreements are 

treaties under Section 35;99 and 

 
96  For example, reputational interests or questions of integrity are legitimate 
interests for the purpose of Rule 13.01(a): Feldberg at para 21; Render at paras 14–22. 
97  See paragraphs 6–14, above. Excerpts of the Six Nations Expert Reports relating 
to this issue are located at Table of Excerpts of the Parmenter Report, Taylor Report, 
and Good Report at 1–60 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 151–210]. 
98  See paragraphs 9, 10, 14, above. Excerpts of the Six Nations Expert Reports 
relating to this issue are located at Table of Excerpts of the Parmenter Report, Taylor 
Report, and Good Report at 61–69 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 211–219]. 
99  See paragraphs 15–19, 28–32, above. Excerpts of the Six Nations Expert 
Reports relating to this issue are located at Table of Excerpts of the Parmenter Report, 
Taylor Report, and Good Report at 70–175 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 220–325]. 

https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2021/2021onsc1099/2021onsc1099.html#par21
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2018/2018onsc3182/2018onsc3182.html#par14
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d) The interpretation of treaties and agreements between MCFN and the 

Crown.100 

47. Chief Hill testified that Six Nations “is not seeking any declarations from the 

court about [the Dish with One Spoon or the Great Peace of Montreal]”101 and “is not 

seeking declarations or relief in its court case about whether the Albany Treaty is a 

treaty.”102 Chief Hill did not testify that Six Nations is not seeking findings of fact or 

law about these or other historical issues. And it clearly is. Six Nations appears to be 

seeking—through this action—a judicially endorsed history of MCFN Territory that 

privileges the Six Nations’ perspective while minimizing, or eliminating, that of MCFN.  

48. Based on its pleadings and the Six Nations Expert Reports, Six Nations appears 

to be asking this Court to find, among other things: 

a) Six Nations has used and occupied MCFN Territory since time 

immemorial;103 

b) Six Nations gained sovereignty over MCFN Territory in the 1600s;104 

 
100  See paragraphs 20–27, above. Excerpts of the Six Nations Expert Reports 
relating to this issue are located at Table of Excerpts of the Parmenter Report, Taylor 
Report, and Good Report at 176–219 [MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 326–369]. 
101  Chief Hill Affidavit at para 8 [Six Nations MR, Tab 1 at 3]. 
102  Chief Hill Affidavit at para 10 [Six Nations MR, Tab 1 at 4]. 
103  See paragraph 12, above. 
104  See paragraph 13, above. 
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c) In the Dish with One Spoon and Great Peace of Montreal, MCFN and 

Six Nations agreed to share sovereignty over MCFN Territory;105 

d) The Nanfan Deed is a treaty that guarantees Six Nations’ rights within 

MCFN Territory;106 

e) In the Between the Lakes Treaty and the Purchase No. 3 Treaty, MCFN 

extinguished its interests in the lands treated for (and lands not treated 

for at the headwaters of the Grand River)—including Aboriginal title—

and agreed to cease exercising rights on those lands;107 and 

f) The Haldimand Proclamation is a treaty within the meaning of 

Section 35 that guarantees Six Nations rights within MCFN Territory.108 

49. These findings would run counter to MCFN’s understanding of its own history 

and rights within MCFN Territory, and would bind the Crown even as it works with 

MCFN to establish a renewed nation-to-nation relationship through the processes 

established under the Memorandum of Understanding—Recognition of Indigenous 

Rights and Self-Determination Table dated June 9, 2017, the Consultation Protocol 

Agreement dated September 6, 2018, and the Preliminary Agreement to Advance 

Reconciliation and Establish a Renewed Relationship dated August 28, 2019.109  

 
105  See paragraph 14, above. 
106  See paragraphs 16–19, above. 
107  See paragraphs 23–26, above. 
108  See paragraphs 29–32, above. 
109  Chief Laforme Affidavit at paras 72–74 [MCFN MR, Tab 2 at 44–45]. 
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50. For MCFN, its history is as important as its future. MCFN’s history grounds its 

sacred connection to its territory and its responsibility to its people to sustain that 

territory for future generations. In Canadian law, however, MCFN’s history serves a 

very different purpose: it is the legal basis for MCFN’s Aboriginal and treaty rights 

under Section 35—including Aboriginal title—and it determines the scope and content 

of the duties to MCFN owed by the Crown.110  

D. Rule 13.01(1)(b): This action may adversely impact MCFN’s rights 

51. Rule 13.01(1)(b) is focused on impacts on legal rights.111 This action expressly 

engages MCFN’s Between the Lakes Treaty and the Purchase No. 3 Treaty, as well as 

MCFN’s Aboriginal rights within MCFN Territory. 

52. The pleadings and the Six Nations Expert Reports put in issue the interpretation 

and legal effect of MCFN’s Between the Lakes Treaty and the Purchase No. 3 Treaty, 

including whether such treaties were “quit claims” that extinguished MCFN interests in 

 
110  For example, the duty to consult and accommodate—which flows from the 
honour of the Crown—depends on “a preliminary assessment of the strength of the case 
supporting the existence of the right or title, and to the seriousness of the potentially 
adverse effect upon the right or title claimed”: Haida Nation v British Columbia 
(Minister of Forests), 2004 SCC 73 at para 39 [Haida]. The test for Aboriginal title is 
similarly driven by historical facts: Tsilhqot’in Nation v British Columbia  ̧2014 SCC 
44 at para 26 [Tsilhqot’in]. 
111  Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Co v Geto Investments Ltd, 2002 CarswellOnt 
350 at para 20 (ONSC) [BA, Tab 1]; Render at para 22. 

https://www.canlii.org/en/ca/scc/doc/2004/2004scc73/2004scc73.html#par39
https://www.canlii.org/en/ca/scc/doc/2014/2014scc44/2014scc44.html#par26
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2018/2018onsc3182/2018onsc3182.html#par22
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the land, and whether MCFN agreed to cease exercising Aboriginal rights over the lands 

treated for.112 

53. The Between the Lakes Treaty and the Purchase No. 3 Treaty are treaties within 

the meaning of Section 35 that govern, in part, the relationship between MCFN and the 

Crown. To the extent they are interpreted in this action, MCFN ought to have 

participatory rights to defend the constitutionally protected rights enshrined therein. 

54. Moreover, this action will unavoidably adjudicate the factual foundation of 

MCFN’s Section 35 rights113—including Aboriginal title114—as well as Crown duties 

that are owed to it, including the duty to consult and the duty to negotiate.115 

E. Rule 13.01(1)(c): There are questions of fact in the proceeding which 
MCFN shares in common with the Crown 

55. In April 2015, MCFN put the Crown on notice of its claims to Aboriginal title 

within MCFN Territory, both to certain lands within the Rouge River Valley, as well as 

to all water, land under water, and floodplains within MCFN Territory.116 In 2020, 

MCFN commenced a claim against the Crown in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice 

 
112  Good Report Excerpts at 1, 177, 190–193, paras 16, 330, 364–376 [MCFN MR, 
Tab 3E at 151, 327, 340–343]; Taylor Report Excerpts at 205–206, paras 113–116 
[MCFN MR, Tab 3E at 355–356]. See also paragraphs 23–26, and footnote 56, above. 
113  R v Van der Peet, [1996] 2 SCR 507 at paras 46–67.  
114  Tsilhqot’in at para 26. 
115  Haida at para 39. 
116  Letter from Chief B. Laforme to the Honourable B. Valcourt and the 
Honourable D. Zimmer (6 April 2015) [MCFN MR, Tab 2B at 51–53]. 

https://www.canlii.org/en/ca/scc/doc/1996/1996canlii216/1996canlii216.html#par46
https://www.canlii.org/en/ca/scc/doc/2014/2014scc44/2014scc44.html#par26
https://www.canlii.org/en/ca/scc/doc/2004/2004scc73/2004scc73.html#par39
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with respect to its Aboriginal title to water claim.117 Both claims are subject to 

negotiations between MCFN and the Crown. 

56. Many of the factual matters engaged by this action are live issues in MCFN’s 

outstanding claims against the Crown, including the occupation of MCFN Territory by 

MCFN prior to Crown sovereignty, continuity between present and pre-sovereignty 

occupation of MCFN Territory by MCFN, and exclusivity of MCFN occupation of 

MCFN Territory at Crown sovereignty.118 Issues of use and occupation of MCFN 

Territory are at the centre of this action. MCFN must have a role in their adjudication. 

F. The intervention of MCFN would not unduly delay or prejudice the 
determination of the parties’ rights 

57. Rule 13.01(2) requires this Court to assess whether “the intervention will unduly 

delay or prejudice the determination of the rights of the parties.”119 As this Court 

explained in Render v ThyssenKrupp Elevator, “[t]he question is … whether granting 

leave to intervene … will delay the resolution of the action as a whole.”120 MCFN’s 

intervention would not unduly delay or prejudice the parties. 

 
117  Statement of Claim, issued December 17, 2020 [Six Nations MR, Tab 2D at 43]. 
118  Tsilhqot’in at para 26. 
119  ROCP, Rule 13.01(2).  
120  Render at para 42. 

https://www.canlii.org/en/ca/scc/doc/2014/2014scc44/2014scc44.html#par26
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/900194#BK97
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2018/2018onsc3182/2018onsc3182.html#par42
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58. In a complex proceeding, care must be taken to distinguish delay caused by 

pre-existing complexities and “undue” delay caused by the proposed intervention 

itself.121 Any complexity or delay in this action to date can be attributed to the parties. 

59. Long before MCFN wrote to the case management judge in January 2022, to 

express its interest in learning more about the issues in the case, this action was already 

complex with a trial date uncertain. For example, the parties—which have been 

litigating this action for nearly thirty years—still cannot even agree on a list of issues 

engaged by this action.122 Trial had been pushed to “a date after January 1, 2024,”123 

and as recently as March 16, 2023, the defendants have sought further extensions to the 

timetable to accommodate proposed amendments to the statement of claim, which leave 

to amend will be heard in May 2023.124 If those amendments are granted, additional 

discovery and further amendments to pleadings are likely. 

60. For its part, MCFN proposes a straightforward role. It proposes to introduce 

expert and Elder evidence on the issues that impact its rights. It is not MCFN’s intention 

to counter or cross claim. Nor is it MCFN’s intention to expand the issues beyond what 

has already been introduced in the pleadings or in the parties’ proposed expert evidence. 

 
121  Ontario Hydro v Ajax (Town), 1996 CarswellOnt 3592 at para 26 (ONSC) [BA, 
Tab 2]. 
122  Case Management Endorsement (28 September 2022) at para 24 [MCFN MR, 
Tab 3G at 383]. 
123  Case Management Endorsement (28 September 2022) at para 23(g) [MCFN 
MR, Tab 3G at 383]. 
124  Case Management Conference Endorsement (16 March 2023), 2023 ONSC 
1777 at para 2. 

https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2023/2023onsc1777/2023onsc1777.html#par2
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61. MCFN has consistently confirmed its intention to adhere to the timelines that are 

set by the Court. This intention was most recently conveyed by MCFN to the parties in 

a March 17, 2023, letter.125 MCFN is not seeking to intervene to delay this action, nor 

to litigate its own claims against the Crown. It is simply here to do what it has said since 

the beginning: to ensure its history is fairly and accurately told and to have a voice in 

how this Court interprets its treaties with the Crown. 

G. MCFN seeks to intervene with the full rights of a party 

62. Rule 13.01(2) empowers this Court to “make such order as is just” with respect 

to the participatory rights of an intervener.126 MCFN seeks all the rights of a party on 

issues engaging its rights and interests to adequately defend those rights and interests. It 

intends to introduce Elder and expert evidence on issues engaging MCFN’s history and 

rights—no other party is equipped to faithfully represent MCFN’s perspectives. 

63. In Ontario Federation of Anglers and Hunters v. Ontario (Minister of Natural 

Resources and Forestry), this Court observed “the only effective way to respect the 

rights of the First Nations and ensure they are fully protected in the proceeding” is to 

 
125  Letter from N. Frame to M. Shapiro, dated March 17, 2023 [Tr C-X, Chief 
Laforme (20 March 2023), Exhibit 5]. 
126  ROCP, Rule 13.01(2). 

https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/900194#BK97
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grant “the same rights as a party.”127 Such rights should not be restricted as to the 

degree of participation in the action, nor with respect to entitlement to costs.128 

64. The same principles apply to MCFN’s proposed intervention. The complexity 

and interconnectedness of the issues, combined with the unpredictability about the 

evidence the parties will lead about those issues, demand MCFN be granted broad 

participatory rights—including appeal rights and entitlement to costs—to permit it to 

adequately defend its rights and interests. While MCFN has no interest in some issues, 

setting hard subject matter limits risks forcing MCFN to sit on the sidelines if issues 

evolve in unpredictable ways that clearly impact its rights; this concern is particularly 

acute given the uncertainty among the parties as to what the issues in the case even are, 

and given the proposed amendments to the pleadings that are ongoing. 

PART V RELIEF SOUGHT 

65. MCFN respectfully seeks: 

a) An order under Rule 13.01 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, R.R.O. 1990, 

Reg. 194 granting MCFN leave to intervene as an added party in this 

action with the full rights of a party; 

 
127  Ontario Federation of Anglers and Hunters v Ontario, 2015 ONSC 7969 at 
para 23, aff’d 2017 ONSC 441 [OFAH]; North American Financial Group Inc v 
Ontario Securities Commission, 2017 ONSC 2965 at para 8. 
128  OFAH at para 23, aff’d 2017 ONSC 441; Durham Area Citizens for Endangered 
Species v Ontario (Minister of Natural Resources and Forestry), 2014 ONSC 7167 
at para 48. 

https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2015/2015onsc7969/2015onsc7969.html#par23
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onscdc/doc/2017/2017onsc441/2017onsc441.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2017/2017onsc2965/2017onsc2965.html#par8
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2015/2015onsc7969/2015onsc7969.html#par23
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onscdc/doc/2017/2017onsc441/2017onsc441.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onscdc/doc/2014/2014onsc7167/2014onsc7167.html#par48
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b) An order requiring the parties to this action to, within 15 days, provide 

MCFN all documents exchanged between the parties in this action to 

date, inclusive of productions, discovery transcripts or questions and 

answers on written examination for discovery, expert reports and 

documents referred to therein, and orders and endorsements of this 

Court; 

c) Costs of this motion; and 

d) Such further relief as MCFN may request and this Court deems just. 

ALL OF WHICH IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 10th day of April 2023. 

  
 NURI G. FRAME 
 

 PAPE SALTER TEILLET LLP 
546 Euclid Avenue 

Toronto, ON M6G 2T2 
Fax: 416-916-3726 

 
Nuri Frame (LSO #60974J) 
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Alexander DeParde (LSO #77616N) 

Tel.: 416-238-7013 
adeparde@pstlaw.ca 
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SCHEDULE A 
LIST OF AUTHORITIES REFERRED TO 

No. Item 

Legislation 

1.  Constitution Act, 1982, being Schedule B to the Canada Act 1982 (UK), 
1982, c 11 

2.  Rules of Civil Procedure, RRO 1990, Reg 194 

Jurisprudence 

3.  Butty v Butty, (2009), 98 OR (3d) 713 (CA) 

4.  Durham Area Citizens for Endangered Species v Ontario (Minister of 
Natural Resources and Forestry), 2014 ONSC 7167 

5.  Feldberg v Andrews, 2021 ONSC 1099 

6.  Haida Nation v British Columbia (Minister of Forests), 2004 SCC 73 

7.  Halpern v Toronto (City) Clerk (2000), 51 OR (3d) 742 (SC DC) 

8.  Jones v Tsige, 106 OR (3d) 721 (CA) 

9.  Lawyers’ Professional Indemnity Co v Geto Investments Ltd, 2002 
CarswellOnt 350 (ONSC) [BA, Tab 1] 

10.  North American Financial Group Inc v Ontario Securities Commission, 
2017 ONSC 2965 

11.  Ontario Federation of Anglers and Hunters v Ontario, 2015 ONSC 7969 

12.  Ontario Federation of Anglers and Hunters v Minister of Natural Resources 
and Forestry, 2017 ONSC 441 

13.  Ontario Hydro v Ajax (Town), 1996 CarswellOnt 3592 (ONSC) [BA, Tab 2] 

14.  Peel (Regional Municipality) v Great Atlantic & Pacific Co of Canada Ltd 
(1990), 74 OR (2d) 164 (CA) 

15.  R v Van der Peet, [1996] 2 SCR 507 

https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/Const/page-12.html#h-39
https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/Const/page-12.html#h-39
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/900194
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onca/doc/2009/2009canlii92125/2009canlii92125.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onscdc/doc/2014/2014onsc7167/2014onsc7167.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onscdc/doc/2014/2014onsc7167/2014onsc7167.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2021/2021onsc1099/2021onsc1099.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/ca/scc/doc/2004/2004scc73/2004scc73.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onscdc/doc/2000/2000canlii29029/2000canlii29029.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onca/doc/2011/2011canlii99894/2011canlii99894.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2017/2017onsc2965/2017onsc2965.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2017/2017onsc2965/2017onsc2965.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2015/2015onsc7969/2015onsc7969.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onscdc/doc/2017/2017onsc441/2017onsc441.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onscdc/doc/2017/2017onsc441/2017onsc441.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onca/doc/1990/1990canlii6886/1990canlii6886.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onca/doc/1990/1990canlii6886/1990canlii6886.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/ca/scc/doc/1996/1996canlii216/1996canlii216.html
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No. Item 

16.  Render v ThyssenKrupp Elevator, 2018 ONSC 3182 

17.  Six Nations of the Grand River Band of Indians v The Attorney General of 
Canada and His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario, 2022 ONSC 7158 

18.  Six Nations of the Grand River Band of Indians v The Attorney General of 
Canada, 2023 ONSC 1777 

19.  Terratec Environmental Ltd v Melancthon (Township), 2003 CarswellOnt 
4319 (ONSC) [BA, Tab 3] 

20.  Tsilhqot’in Nation v British Columbia  ̧2014 SCC 44 

 

  

https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2018/2018onsc3182/2018onsc3182.html?resultIndex=1
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2022/2022onsc7158/2022onsc7158.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2022/2022onsc7158/2022onsc7158.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2023/2023onsc1777/2023onsc1777.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/on/onsc/doc/2023/2023onsc1777/2023onsc1777.html
https://www.canlii.org/en/ca/scc/doc/2014/2014scc44/2014scc44.html
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SCHEDULE B 
EXCERPTS OF LEGISLATION, REGULATIONS, AND BYLAWS 

Constitution Act, 1982, being Schedule B to the Canada Act 1982 (UK), 1982, c 11 

Recognition of existing aboriginal and treaty rights 

35 (1) The existing aboriginal and treaty rights of the aboriginal peoples of Canada are 
hereby recognized and affirmed. 

Definition of aboriginal peoples of Canada 

(2) In this Act, aboriginal peoples of Canada includes the Indian, Inuit and Métis 
peoples of Canada. 

Land claims agreements 

(3) For greater certainty, in subsection (1) treaty rights includes rights that now exist by 
way of land claims agreements or may be so acquired. 

Aboriginal and treaty rights are guaranteed equally to both sexes 

(4) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Act, the aboriginal and treaty rights 
referred to in subsection (1) are guaranteed equally to male and female persons. 

 
 

Rules of Civil Procedure, RRO 1990, Reg 194 

RULE 13 INTERVENTION 

Leave to Intervene as Added Party 

13.01 (1) A person who is not a party to a proceeding may move for leave to intervene 
as an added party if the person claims, 

(a) an interest in the subject matter of the proceeding; 

(b) that the person may be adversely affected by a judgment in the proceeding; 
or 

(c) that there exists between the person and one or more of the parties to the 
proceeding a question of law or fact in common with one or more of the 
questions in issue in the proceeding. 
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(2) On the motion, the court shall consider whether the intervention will unduly delay or 
prejudice the determination of the rights of the parties to the proceeding and the court 
may add the person as a party to the proceeding and may make such order as is just. 
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2002 CarswellOnt 350
Ontario Superior Court of Justice


Lawyers' Professional Indemnity Co. v. Geto Investments Ltd.


2002 CarswellOnt 350, [2002] O.J. No. 378, 111 A.C.W.S. (3d) 704


Lawyers' Professional Indemnity Company and
Another v. Geto Investments Limited and Others


Nordheimer J.


Heard: February 4, 2002
Judgment: February 5, 2002
Docket: 00-CV-198345CM


Proceedings: additional reasons at Lawyers' Professional Indemnity Co. v. Geto Investments Ltd.
(March 6, 2002), Doc. 00-CV-198345CM (Ont. S.C.J.)


Counsel: Raj Anand, for Plaintiffs
Larry M. Najjar, for Proposed Intervener, Gregory W. Roberts
No one for Defendants


Subject: Civil Practice and Procedure


MOTION for leave to intervene in action as added party defendant.


Nordheimer J.:


1      Gregory W. Roberts moves for leave to intervene in this action as an added party defendant and,
if leave is granted, seeks an order that the plaintiff, Lawyers' Professional Indemnity Company,
fund his costs of the action. In the alternative, the proposed intervener seeks an order varying the
injunction granted by Madam Justice Swinton dated October 5, 2000 to permit him to pay his legal
fees out of the funds frozen pursuant to the terms of that order.


2      Mr. Roberts is a barrister and solicitor duly qualified to practice law in the Province of Ontario.


3      In December 1992, the defendants Geto and 728786 owned premises in the City of Orillia
in which they operated a restaurant called Queen's Pizzeria and Spaghetti House. On December
22, 1992, at approximately 3:30 a.m., the premises were destroyed by fire. It is accepted that the
fire was the result of arson.
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4      At all material times, the premises were insured under a written policy of insurance with
Wellington Insurance Company. Shortly after the fire, Geto retained the plaintiff, Paul Squires,
another solicitor, to make a claim under its policy of insurance in respect of the fire. Wellington
rejected Geto's claim on the basis that the fire was the result of arson which Wellington alleged had
been arranged by Geto's principals. As a result of the position taken by Wellington, Geto instructed
Squires to commence an action against Wellington.


5      Unfortunately, Mr. Squires failed to commence the proceedings against Wellington within one
year from the date of the fire. Accordingly, Geto's claim against Wellington became statute-barred
under the terms governing the insurance policy and Geto's action was subsequently dismissed on
a motion for summary judgment. Following on that outcome, Mr. Roberts was retained by Geto
and on January 7, 1999 he commenced an action against Mr. Squires for breach of contract and
negligence. LPIC assumed carriage of the defence of that action on behalf of Mr. Squires.


6      In late August 2000, just weeks before the trial of the action against Mr. Squires was
scheduled to commence, LPIC accepted the settlement offer of the plaintiffs in that action and
the action against Mr. Squires was settled. Under cover letter dated October 2, 2000, LPIC's
counsel forwarded settlement funds totalling approximately $567,000 in trust to Mr. Roberts and
approximately $232,000 to the defendant, Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, which was a
first mortgagee in respect of the premises..,


7      Before Mr. Roberts had the opportunity to disburse the settlement funds to his clients, an
individual by the name of Nick Tsoukalis attended at the offices of LPIC on or about October
5, 2000 and provided information to LPIC which essentially alleged that the fire at the Queen's
Pizzeria on December 22, 1992 had been arranged by the principals of Geto as part of a conspiracy
to defraud Wellington of the proceeds of the insurance policy. Mr. Tsoukalis also alleged that Mr.
Roberts was fully aware of the arson and fraudulent conspiracy at the time he accepted the retainer
to conduct the action against Mr. Squires and that he knowingly and intentionally assisted Geto
in carrying out its fraudulent conspiracy.


8      After receiving this information, LPIC's solicitors conducted an examination of Mr. Tsoukalis
under oath, which examination was both transcribed and videotaped. LPIC was sufficiently
satisfied with the information provided by Mr. Tsoukalis in that examination that, on the same day,
it commenced the within action. In addition to issuing the Notice of Action on October 5, 2000,
LPIC also obtained an ex parte injunction from Madam Justice Swinton freezing the settlement
proceeds.


9      On the evening of October 5, 2000, Mr. Caplan telephoned Mr. Roberts to advise him of the
commencement of the action and of the injunction. LPIC was very anxious to freeze the sum of
$567,000, which had been sent to Mr. Roberts as part of the settlement funds, before those funds
could be disbursed to Mr. Roberts' clients.
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10      On November 2, 2000 LPIC delivered its statement of claim in this action. While in the
Notice of Action there was a broad allegation of fraud against all of the defendants including Mr.
Roberts, in the statement of claim LPIC did not pursue any allegation of fraud against Mr. Roberts.
Rather, from that point, Mr. Roberts was treated simply as a stakeholder.


11      In December 2000, prior to delivering his defence, Mr. Roberts sought an order, among
other things, requiring LPIC to pay his costs to have separate counsel act for him in this matter. In
response to that motion, LPIC made a proposal, on December 14, 2000, to resolve the entire action
against Mr. Roberts by offering to discontinue the action and by also offering to make a payment
in the amount of $20,000 on account of the costs incurred by Mr. Roberts for separate counsel
he had retained. It was expressly agreed that this resolution would not preclude Mr. Roberts from
advancing a claim under LPIC's undertaking as to damages on the basis that he was entitled to be
compensated in costs, not damages, for his personal time spent in his own defence of this action.
It was also expressly agreed, though, that LPIC was not accepting that Mr. Roberts was entitled to
such a payment. As part of this resolution, Mr. Roberts agreed to continue to hold the settlement
funds in his possession until further order of the court.


12      On December 15, 2000 the notice of discontinuance against Mr. Roberts was delivered and
Mr. Roberts' motion never proceeded.


13      On June 25, 2001, I heard a motion brought by certain of the defendants to strike out the
statement of claim. As a consequence of that motion LPIC brought a cross-motion to amend the
statement of claim to, among other things, add Paul Squires as a plaintiff. The cross-motion was
not opposed and the amendments were granted. For reasons contained in my endorsement dated
June 26, 2001, I dismissed the motion to strike out the statement of claim.


14      I am now faced with the unusual situation where Mr. Roberts seeks to intervene as an
added party defendant in an action in which he had been a named defendant but against whom
the action was subsequently discontinued. Mr. Roberts seeks to intervene in this action on the
basis that he continues to be at substantial risk of criminal or other proceedings being brought
against him as a result of the allegations of Mr. Tsoukalis upon which LPIC continues to rely in
this action, that he has a desire to defend his reputation against these allegations, that Mr. Roberts
has a substantial monetary interest in the outcome of the action on the basis of fees he is owed from
the settlement funds which are the subject matter of this action, and that Mr. Roberts possesses
information regarding the credibility of Mr. Tsoukalis gained in the context of a solicitor/client
relationship and he requires counsel to advise him on issues of privilege that may arise if he either
wishes, or is required, to disclose this information during the course of this proceeding.


15      The ability to intervene in an action is governed by Rule 13 of the Rules of Civil Procedure,
R.R.O. 1990, Reg. 194. Rule 13.01 governs motions for leave to intervene in a proceeding as an
added party. It states:
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(1) A person who is not a party to a proceeding may move for leave to intervene as an added
party if the person claims,


(a) an interest in the subject matter of the proceeding;


(b) that the person may be adversely affected by a judgment in the proceeding; or


(c) that there exists between the person and one or more of the parties to the proceeding
a question of law or fact in common with one or more of the questions in issue in the
proceeding.


(2) On the motion, the court shall consider whether the intervention will unduly delay or
prejudice the determination of the rights of the parties to the proceeding and the court may
add the person as a party to the proceeding and may make such order as is just.


16      Mr. Roberts asserts that he has both an interest in the subject matter of this proceeding and
may be adversely affected by a judgment in this proceeding. Mr. Roberts says that he is owed about
$200,000 in fees which were to have been paid out of the settlement funds which are now frozen
pursuant to the order of Swinton J. Mr. Roberts also says that he may be adversely affected by a
judgment in this proceeding not only because of the possible implications to his ability to get paid
his fees but also because, if the allegations made by Mr. Tsoukalis are accepted at trial, then Mr.
Roberts' reputation may suffer and he may be then subject to criminal charges or a civil proceeding.


17      It is generally accepted that leave to intervene in a private lawsuit is only granted in rare
cases. This general reluctance is seen in cases such as Peixeiro v. Haberman (1994), 20 O.R. (3d)
666 (Ont. Gen. Div.) where MacPherson J. said, at p. 670:


I agree with this passage and its articulation of a benchmark of caution for granting intervenor
status in private litigation.


See also the decision of the Court of Appeal in Authorson (Litigation Guardian of) v. Canada
(Attorney General), [2001] O.J. No. 2768  (Ont. C.A. [In Chambers]) at para. 8.


18      I am not satisfied that Mr. Roberts has established either basis that he asserts as justifying
his intervention in this proceeding. I do not accept that the fact that Mr. Roberts' fees were to be
paid from the settlement funds constitutes an interest in the subject matter of the proceeding. If
that were the case, then a great many counsel would theoretically be entitled to intervene in many,
many actions since it is not an uncommon event for either settlement funds or the proceeds of a
successful judgment to be the source for the payment of the fees of counsel for the plaintiff. The
fact is that Mr. Roberts has an independent claim against his clients for his fees and is presumably
entitled to be paid those fees regardless of where the clients obtain the funds to do so. The true
subject matter of the action is not per se the settlement funds and who is entitled to what portion
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of those funds. The subject matter of the action is whether the arson had, in fact, been arranged
by the principals of Geto such that the settlement of the action was obtained through fraud. The
entitlement to the settlement funds simply follows from a determination of that issue.


19      Mr. Roberts also raises the issue that he took his fees out of the settlement funds prior to
the granting of the order of Madam Justice Swinton and then returned them to his trust account
after being advised of the order. He contends that those events also provide a sufficient ground
for finding that he has an interest in the subject matter of this proceeding. I do not accept that
contention. If Mr. Roberts wishes to take the position that he was properly paid his fees prior to
the granting of the injunction, then he could have brought (indeed he could still presumably bring)
a motion for the determination of that issue. He does not have to become an intervener in this
proceeding to have that issue decided nor does the possible existence of that issue give him an
interest in the subject matter of this proceeding for the reasons I have already stated.


20      I am also not satisfied that Mr. Roberts will be "adversely affected" by a judgment in this
proceeding in the fashion to which the subrule is directed. In any action, there may be adverse
findings or observations made regarding the conduct of individuals who were witnesses at the
trial. That does not give each and every witness the right to intervene merely because they may
be the subject of such adverse comment. That is simply not the adverse affect to which the rule is
directed. Rather, the rule is directed to the presence of an adverse affect on a person's legal rights.
In the course of his submissions, counsel for Mr. Roberts asserted, on more than one occasion,
that Mr. Roberts had to have the right to defend himself and protect his rights or interests. The
simple reality of this situation is that Mr. Roberts has no rights or interests at stake in this action.
No allegations are made against him nor is any relief sought against him, save and except in his
position as a stakeholder. At most, Mr. Roberts is a person against whom a witness at the trial may
make negative comments regarding certain matters. If that transpires, Mr. Roberts will presumably
have the opportunity to give evidence at the trial and to recount his side of those matters. Simply
put, that is as far as his position in the litigation can take him.


21      Further, it is not certain that the concern which Mr. Roberts has regarding the possible
evidence of Mr. Tsoukalis will manifest itself at the trial. Given that Mr. Roberts is no longer
a defendant in the action, and given that the plaintiffs are not advancing any allegations against
him, it is not clear to me how anything that Mr. Tsoukalis might have to say about Mr. Roberts
is relevant to the issues in this proceeding. While ultimately that matter is, of course, up to the
trial judge to decide, it does seem to me that there is every possibility that such evidence, if Mr.
Tsoukalis attempts to give it, would be ruled inadmissible on the basis that it is irrelevant to the
issues to be determined. However, even if that evidence is led, the recourse for Mr. Roberts, as I
have said, is to get into the witness box and tell his side of the story. It may be that the trial judge
would conclude in such circumstances that he or she need not decide the matters regarding Mr.
Roberts in order to decide the issues in the action. However, if the trial judge does decide those
matters then, as I have also already said, that is a consequence of any trial. It does not give Mr.
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Roberts the right to intervene in the proceeding in order to defend himself. To conclude otherwise
would open the proverbial floodgates to similar applications in countless actions.


22      Mr. Roberts also asserts that he may be adversely affected by a judgment in this proceeding
because any finding by the trial judge of credibility regarding Mr. Tsoukalis might adversely impact
on Mr. Roberts in subsequent proceedings in which he may be involved whether criminal or civil.
Again, that is not the type of adverse impact to which the rule is directed. Any such finding by the
trial judge in this action as to the credibility of Mr. Tsoukalis would not be binding on a judge in
a separate proceeding involving different parties. It would also not be determinative of the issues
raised in that separate proceeding. I note that a similar assertion was rejected by the Alberta Court
of Queen's Bench in Pancanadian Petroleum Ltd. v. Husky Oil Operations Ltd., [1994] A.J. No.
207  (Alta. Q.B.).


23      In the end result, I find that Mr. Roberts cannot bring himself within the requirements of rule
13.01(1) such as to warrant an order granting him leave to intervene. While that determination is
sufficient to dispose of this motion, I will say that even if I had been convinced that Mr. Roberts
could fit his situation within the requirements of rule 13.01(1), I would have still refused leave to
intervene under rule 13.01(2). As the Divisional Court said in Starr v. Puslinch (Township) (1976),
12 O.R. (2d) 40 (Ont. Dist. Ct.)by Grange J. at p. 46:


I also believe that it is clear from the cases that even when the applicant satisfies that condition
it is entirely discretionary in the Court whether he will be allowed to intervene or not, and the
Court may always decline the application where it considers that the interest of the applicant
is already adequately represented.


24      It is obvious to me that adding Mr. Roberts as a intervener will only serve to delay the
determination of the issues in this action. Indeed, it might well serve to take the proceedings off
onto tangents that are unnecessary to the proper determination of the central issue. In terms of
the central issue, a number of the other defendants have every bit as much interest, if not more,
in refuting the allegations made by Mr. Tsoukalis. In that regard, I cannot accept the assertion by
Mr. Roberts that those defendants have either no interest in, or insufficient resources to, challenge
the credibility of Mr. Tsoukalis. There is no cogent evidence before me that would support such
a conclusion. Further, it is self-evident that if the other defendants are to be successful in their
defence of this action, they will inevitably have to challenge Mr. Tsoukalis' version of the events.
Therefore, on the central issue, the position which Mr. Roberts seeks to advance is more than
adequately represented. The motion would therefore fail on that basis as well.


25      The motion for leave to intervene as a party defendant is therefore dismissed. In light of
that conclusion, it is unnecessary to deal with the other relief regarding the payment of the costs
of Mr. Roberts' representation. While I can see no reason why the normal rule that costs follow
the event would not apply to this motion, since the parties did not have the opportunity to address
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costs, they may do so by written submissions. I am also prepared to fix the costs of the motion on
receipt of proper submissions in that regard. The plaintiffs shall file their submissions within 10
days of the release of these reasons and the proposed intervener shall file his submissions within
10 days thereafter.


Motion dismissed.


 


End of Document Copyright © Thomson Reuters Canada Limited or its licensors (excluding individual court documents). All rights reserved.
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Jeffrey Leon, for defendant Ajax Hydro.
Andrew Roman, for defendant Ajax Energy.
Alan H. Mark and Kelly Friedman, for applicant/intervenor.


Subject: Civil Practice and Procedure


MOTION for leave to intervene.


Potts J.:


Background


1      This is a motion brought by the Municipal Electric Association (M.E.A.) for leave to intervene
as an added party in the above action. I granted the motion for reasons to be delivered, and the
following are those reasons.


2      The three defendants: the town of Ajax, the Ajax Hydro-Electric Commission (Ajax Hydro)
and the Ajax Energy Corporation (Ajax Energy) oppose the motion. The town of Ajax did not
make arguments before me, but I was advised that they take the same position as Ajax Hydro.
Counsel for the plaintiff, Ontario Hydro, advised me that it does not oppose the motion. The motion
is brought pursuant to rule 13.01 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, which provides as follows:


(1) A person who is not a party to a proceeding may move for leave to intervene as an
added party if the person claims:
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(a) an interest in the subject matter of the proceeding;


(b) that the person may be adversely affected by a judgment in the proceeding; or


(c) that there exists between the person and one or more of the parties to the
proceeding a question of law or fact in common with one or more of the questions
in issue in the proceeding.


(2) On the motion, the court shall consider whether the intervention will unduly delay
or prejudice the determination of the rights of the parties to the proceeding and the court
may add the person as a party to the proceeding and may make such order as is just.


3      The M.E.A. is a non-share capital corporation incorporated pursuant to the law of the
Province of Ontario. The members of the M.E.A are the 306 municipal electric distributing utilities
(M.E.U.'s) throughout Ontario. The members of the M.E.A. collectively purchased approximately
70% of the power produced by Ontario Hydro and serve in excess of 2.5 million customers.


4      The M.E.U.'s are established pursuant to the Public Utilities Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. P.52, for
the purpose of managing and operating the electric distribution facilities found in municipalities
throughout Ontario. They are all public, non-profit bodies, ranging in size from having a few
hundred customers, to tens of thousands of customers.


5      The M.E.A. and its predecessors have been serving the municipal utilities for over 80 years,
fulfilling a number of roles and functions for its members. For example, it provides engineering,
management and administrative services to assist its members in operating the utilities. It works
with its members, Ontario Hydro and others to formulate standards, provide trades training
programs and develop engineering management and administrative practices. The M.E.A. also
performs a significant policy and public representation role for its members regarding industry
issues. On behalf of, and in conjunction with its members, it formulates appropriate policy
positions and represents its members at Queen's Park, at industry forums, before administrative
tribunals and in judicial proceedings.


6      The action in which the M.E.A. wishes to intervene was commenced by Ontario Hydro.
Ontario Hydro supplies electricity to M.E.U.'s including the defendant, Ajax Hydro. Like many
other utilities, Ajax Hydro had a written contract with Ontario Hydro. In February of 1994, Ajax
Hydro informed Ontario Hydro that it was interested in purchasing electric power from Ajax
Energy. Ontario Hydro took the position that it had the exclusive right to supply electric power.
Despite being advised of this, Ajax Hydro continued to negotiate with Ajax Energy to purchase
electric power.


7      Ontario Hydro brought their action seeking declaratory and injunctive relief, contending first,
that it has the statutory and contractual right to be the exclusive supplier of electricity to Ajax Hydro
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and that Ajax Hydro cannot lawfully purchase electricity from any other supplier. Alternatively,
it claims the right to recover damages from Ajax Hydro for interfering with Ontario Hydro's trust
obligation to all other municipal corporations and public utilities. In the further alternative, Ontario
Hydro submits that if the court should find that Ajax Hydro and Ajax Energy can contract for
the supply of electric power, Ontario Hydro should be able to discontinue supplying power to the
defendants. Ontario Hydro then claims damages from the town of Ajax and Ajax Energy because
of the lost contribution to Ontario Hydro's fixed costs resulting from Ajax Hydro's decreased
purchases. This kind of charge is commonly referred to as an exit fee.


8      Ontario Hydro rests its case on three essential grounds:


(a) the provisions of the contract between Ontario Hydro and Ajax Hydro;


(b) Ontario Hydro's status as trustee and agent for all M.E.U.'s;


(c) the provisions of the Power Corporation Act R.S.O. 1990, c. P.18, as amended.


Submissions


The M.E.A.


9      The M.E.A. submits that it has a sufficiently direct interest in the matter at issue in order
to be granted leave to intervene under Rule 13.01. In the alternative, it points to the more relaxed
test applied to cases involving public law or issues affecting a significant number of persons other
than the direct parties to the litigation. The M.E.A. states that virtually all of the matters in issue
in this action have a direct and substantial impact on each and every municipal utility in Ontario.


10      In order to back up this proposition, the M.E.A. states in its factum that utilities throughout
North America are facing the potential problem of stranded assets, which exist when a utility
cannot recover, through competitive rates, the embedded (fixed) costs associated with surplus,
underutilized or uneconomic facilities. The economic recession and falling natural gas prices
have meant that there are more utility owned generation facilities which are underutilized and
uneconomic. More customers are turning to privately owned natural gas-fire generation facilities
which can generate electricity at a lower cost than utility owned facilities. These non-utility owned
facility are referred to as "Non-Utility Generators" ("NUGS").


11      Ontario Hydro, the M.E.A. and the Ontario Government recognize that NUGS present
an important issue, because they provide a competitive alternative, which means that per unit
electricity prices end up rising to cover the fixed costs associated with the surplus facilities. This
then results in more customers taking load off the system and the remaining customers bearing an
increasing portion of the utility's embedded cost.
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12      Ajax Hydro is seeking to buy power from a NUGS generator and Ontario Hydro wishes to
stop it from doing so. Other municipal utilities are also said to be considering NUGS and there is
a very similar action developing with London Hydro. This could mean that those who continue
to purchase from Ontario Hydro face the prospect of higher rates as Ontario Hydro is faced with
a declining load. The M.E.A. states that this action is part of the ongoing, industry wide effort to
deal with this broader problem and that it is not an isolated dispute between the parties.


13      The M.E.A. seeks to make submissions and present evidence related to the three broad
grounds on which Ontario Hydro rests its case. In relation to the contract between Ontario Hydro
and Ajax Hydro, it submits that it is nearly identical in form to contracts that many other municipal
utilities have with Ontario Hydro. Issues arising from that contract are the "exclusive supply"
provisions and whether the contract authorizes the imposition of exit fees. In relation to the statute,
the M.E.A. questions whether there is a statutory obligation on a municipal utility to take supply
exclusively from Ontario Hydro and whether ss. 91 and 98 of the Power Corporation Act authorize
the imposition of exit fees. It further wishes to address the question of whether Ontario Hydro
has a statutory or common law obligation to supply power to municipal utility commissions that
request it. In relation to whether Ontario Hydro is in fact a trustee or agent of all public utilities,
the M.E.A. submits that the issue of beneficial ownership of Ontario Hydro's undertaking and the
nature of Ontario Hydro's obligations as trustee are now important public issues.


14      All of the above issues, it is submitted, impact directly and substantially on all municipal
utilities. The M.E.A. as an established representative of M.E.U.'s should therefore be permitted to
participate in the litigation in order to put forward the views of the municipal utilities as they were
adopted collectively regarding these issues. The M.E.A. has intervened before government bodies,
tribunals and judicial proceedings and the Board of Directors has authorized their intervention in
this matter. The M.E.A. states that while their position may overlap to some extent with either
Ontario Hydro or Ajax Hydro, their perspective on the existing issues will be unique and will help
ensure that the court has all of the information necessary to make a decision.


Ajax Hydro


15      Ajax Hydro, in opposing the motion brought by the M.E.A., argues that the requirements
contained in Rule 13.01 for granting intervention have not been met and that the "relaxed" test for
public law cases is not appropriate here. It submits that the action initiated by Ontario Hydro is a
private law suit dealing with issues of alleged breach of contract and that the fact that public bodies
are involved does not make it a public lawsuit. These proceedings do not involve constitutional or
quasi-constitutional issues, so there is no basis for relaxing the rules relating to standing.


16      Ajax Hydro further questions the authority of the M.E.A. to bring this motion for intervention.
It argues that none of the M.E.U.'s were consulted about the position to be taken with respect to
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the lawsuit, and that therefore, the M.E.A. cannot claim to be representing the collective interests
of the M.E.U,'s.


17      It is argued that aside from creating a precedent, there would be no impact upon the M.E.A. or
its various members no matter what decision the court ultimately reaches. Ajax Hydro argues that
since intervention would constitute an inconvenience to the defendants to the action, the M.E.A.
must demonstrate that it is a necessary party with a real, substantial interest in the action.


18      In particular Ajax Hydro states that the M.E.A. has not adequately addressed the issue
contained in Rule 13.01(2) - that of prejudice to the rights of the immediate parties. It is said that the
intervention of the M.E.A. would widen the scope of the action, causing delay in the proceedings.
A date of October 8, 1996 has been set for a motion for summary judgment and it is submitted
that, if the M.E.A. is allowed to intervene, that motion could be delayed and the defendants denied
their chance to have the matter settled expeditiously.


Ajax Energy


19      The Ajax Energy Corporation also opposes the motion, and makes some of the same
points as Ajax Hydro. It too argues that there would be great prejudice if M.E.A. were allowed
to intervene. The increased length of the proceedings would lead to higher legal costs and Ajax
Energy, as a small independent company, does not have access to unlimited resources. It fears that
allowing intervention by the M.E.A. could open the floodgates and that other organizations, such
as environmental groups, would then seek leave to intervene.


20      Ajax Energy is hopeful that the main action could be settled by the motion for summary
judgment, enabling them to avoid a trial completely. It submits that intervention is not permitted
on a motion, and that, if litigation proceeds after the motion has been decided, the M.E.A. should
reapply for intervenor status at that time.


21      Ajax Energy agrees with Ajax Hydro that the only issue in the lawsuit is the contract between
the parties, and given that all the parties are already represented by competent counsel, the M.E.A.
will not be able to provide any further assistance to the court in resolving the issues. It is further
stated that the M.E.A.'s position in the case is, with one minor exception, the same as the position
of Ontario Hydro, and that it therefore does not bring any unique perspective.


Reasons


22      I am satisfied that the M.E.A. qualifies under clauses (a) and (c) of Rule 13.01 in that it
has an interest in the subject matter of the proceedings and that there exists a question of law or
fact in common with one or more of the questions in issue in the proceeding. I accept M.E.A.'s
submission first of all that a group or association will be permitted to intervene when its members
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will be affected by the decision and that it is not necessary for the association itself to be directly
affected by the outcome.


23      Counsel has directed my attention to the decision of Adams J. in Ontario (Attorney General)
v. Dieleman (1993), 16 O.R. (3d) 32 (Gen. Div.) at 39. Many of the leading authorities on the issue
of intervention were reviewed, and Adams J. concludes as follows:


In summary, where intervenor status is granted to a public interest group, either as a party or
as a friend of the court, at least one of the following criteria is usually met:


(a) the intervenor has a real, substantial and identifiable interest in the subject matter
of the proceedings;


(b) the intervenor has an important perspective distinct from the immediate parties; or


(c) the intervenor is a well recognized group with a special expertise and with a broad
identifiable membership base.


24      The M.E.A. does have a genuine interest in the proceeding in that every M.E.U. and their
customers have a financial interest in the outcome of these proceedings. As was stated by the
M.E.A., the public power system in Ontario was founded on the principle of all the municipalities
sharing the "pooled" system costs equitably. Despite the fact that the proposed contract between
Ajax Hydro and Ajax Energy is for a relatively small amount of power, it is not consistent with
this general principle, and could therefore impact upon other M.E.U.'s. Despite Ajax Hydro's
submissions on this point, not every M.E.U. has to have the same view as the M.E.A. in order for
it to be an effective intervenor.


25      I accept the M.E.A.'s argument that its perspective is distinct from that of any of the
present parties and that it will bring a broader perspective, without expanding the lis between
the parties. For example, the M.E.A. state that they have identified several important arguments
against Ontario Hydro's claimed right to a monopoly. I am also satisfied that the M.E.A. is a well
established group with a history of intervening in front of various tribunals and courts on behalf
of its membership.


26      The M.E.A. then clearly meets the criteria enunciated in Rule 13.01(1). Rule 13.01(2) must
also be part of my consideration and it requires analysis of whether the proposed intervention
could unduly delay or prejudice the determination of the rights of the parties. Both Ajax Hydro and
Ajax Energy have ably argued that intervention would result in significant prejudice and delay.
However, there is no evidence that granting leave to intervene would open the floodgates to similar
applications. I find that whatever prejudice or delay is being experienced by the defendants is as
a result of the complexity of the issues raised by the main action and not as a result of the M.E.A.
intervention. Any determination which is made with respect to the issues raised in this case must







Ontario Hydro v. Ajax (Town), 1996 CarswellOnt 3592
1996 CarswellOnt 3592, 14 O.T.C. 385, 65 A.C.W.S. (3d) 738


 Copyright © Thomson Reuters Canada Limited or its licensors (excluding individual court documents). All rights reserved. 7


be a fully informed one and I am satisfied that the M.E.A. will be able to be of valuable assistance
to the court in reaching its decision.


27      Given that the M.E.A. qualifies to intervene in this action under Rule 13.01, I do not find
it necessary to address its alternative submission relating to relaxed intervention rules for public
law cases. The motion to intervene is accordingly granted. I will leave it to counsel to work out
the mechanics of intervention, failing which parties may make written submissions.


28      Costs to M.E.A. are fixed at $1500, payable jointly and severally by Ajax Hydro and Ajax
Energy.


Motion granted.


 


End of Document Copyright © Thomson Reuters Canada Limited or its licensors (excluding individual court documents). All rights reserved.
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Subject: Public; Environmental; Municipal


APPLICATION by residents' association and non-profit corporation for intervenor status on
application to quash by-law.


Master Haberman:


1      On May 17, 2002, the Township of Melancthon (the Township) passed By-Law No. 17-2002
(the by-law) governing the application of biosolids within its borders. It appears, from the by-
law's opening recitals, that it was passed pursuant to the provisions of the Municipal Act, R.S.O.
1990, c. M. 45 and the Environmental Protection Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. E. 19 (the EPA). The by-law
imposes conditions under which biosolids may be applied to lands within the Township and limits
the locations where this can take place. These restrictions are over and above the requirements for
obtaining a certificate of approval pursuant to the EPA.


2      The by-law has been challenged by application issued by Terratec, a biosolids contractor,
on May 1, 2003. Terratec seeks an order quashing the by-law, on the basis that it is ultra vires the
Township's jurisdiction. The grounds for the application include the following:


• The by-law was not enacted pursuant to enabling legislation;
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• It conflicts with superior legislation and other statutory instruments and instruments of a
legislative nature;


• Its effect is to prohibit the land application of biosolids.


3      As neither party has delivered its affidavits in support of or in response to this application as
yet, it is not possible to get the full flavour of how these issues will ultimately be presented to the
court. From the notice of application, however, it appears that the court's focus will be directed to
existing provincial mechanisms that already regulate in this area; the intent and effect of this by-
law; the extent to which, if at all, the by-law conflicts with the provincial mechanism and whether
the Township had jurisdiction to enter into this area of regulation in the manner in which it did.


4      The matter before me involves whether two interest groups should be granted full party status,
as intervenors to this application. I heard full arguments on October 23, 2003 and dismissed the
motion with respect to both proposed intervenors at that time, with reasons to follow.


5      Although neither counsel filed the biosolids by-law as part of their material, it was provided
to the court during argument, upon my request. Some of the background recitals are, in my view,
relevant to the proceeding before me. They are as follows:


3. During the past several years, biosolids have been applied to lands within the
Township, without any input or regulation by the Township.


4. The Council of the Township has considered the documentation provided to the
Council by the Ministry of the Environment in connection with biosolids applications
within the Township;


5. The Council of the Township has considered the Guidelines for the Utilization of
Biosolids and other Wastes on Agricultural Land, published by the Ontario Ministry of
Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs in connection with biosolids;


6. The Council of the Township has considered the legitimate expectations of the
Township farming community to utilize biosolids in a safe manner;


7. the Township has participated in the development of the AEMOT Groundwater
Management Plan and Council has determined that groundwater resources in the
Township are in need of protection;


8. The Aquifer Vulnerability Map attached to this by-law is based on data in the AEMOT
Groundwater Plan, as applicable to the Township, with the scale of the map configured
for the purposes of this by-law to enable land use regulation;
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9. The Township of the Council has conducted several public meetings in connection
with biosolids and has received submissions from the public in connection with
biosolids;


10. The Council of the Township has determined that while Certificates of Approval are
required for application of biosolids, stricter requirements are needed for the protection
of the inhabitants of the Township;


11. The Council of the Township has, in good faith, determine that this by-law is required
to protect the health, safety and welfare of the inhabitants of the Township.


THE LAW


6      The law in this area is, for the most part, straightforward and counsel were largely in agreement
as to how a court is required to assess motions of this nature, as a result.


7      The inquiry begins with Rule 13.01, which effectively creates a 2-step process. Step one,
crossing the threshold, is found in subrule 13.01(1), which reads:


A person who is not a party to a proceeding may move for leave to intervene as an added
party if the person claims,


(a) an interest in the subject matter of the proceeding;


(b) that the person may be adversely affected by a judgment in the proceeding; or


(c) that there exists between the person and one or more of the parties to the proceeding
a question of law or fact in common with one or more of the questions in issue in the
proceeding.


8      Subsection (c) is not in issue on this motion.


9      It is agreed that items (a) to (c) are to be read disjunctively rather than conjunctively. A party is
only required to fit within one of them to satisfy the first part of the two-step process and cross the
threshold (see Bloorview Childrens Hospital Foundation v. Bloorview MacMillan Centre, [2001]
O.J. No. 1700  (Ont. S.C.J.)). It is also agreed that the onus of fitting within (a), (b) or (c) lies with
the proposed intervenor (see M. v. H. (1994), 20 O.R. (3d) 70 (Ont. Gen. Div.))


10      Once the proposed intervenor has established to the court's satisfaction that it qualifies under
one aspect of the subrule, the court moves to the second stage of the inquiry, as set out at subrule
13.01(2) (see Bloorview, supra). It reads:
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On the motion, the court shall consider whether the intervention will unduly delay or prejudice
the determination of the rights of the parties to the proceeding and the court may add the
person as a party to the proceeding and may make such order as is just.


11      This part of the Rule makes it clear that the court retains discretion regarding the outcome of
the motion, so that even if a party has brought himself within (a), (b) or (c), there are other factors
to be considered before intervenor status is granted.


12      It is also agreed that, where constitutional cases and those involving elements of public
interest are before the court, the approach to intervention tends to be a more relaxed one (see Peel
(Regional Municipality) v. Great Atlantic & Pacific Co. of Canada (1990), 74 O.R. (2d) 164 (Ont.
C.A.), Bloorview, supra).


13      When the two parts of the tests are read together, they provide the court with a fairly
complete guideline for approaching requests of this nature. The court must consider the nature of
the proceeding into which the proposed intervenor seeks to interject itself as well as the identity
of the proposed intervenor. The court must then determine whether the proceeding or the ultimate
judgment is capable of having an impact on that person. If it is established that it may, the court
must then balance two things: the desirability of giving that person a voice before the court while
providing the court with the benefit of additional information or a different perspective, against
the extent to which that will increase costs, delay the process or prejudice the determination of the
rights between the named parties.


14      In Peel, the Court of Appeal explained the test, essentially mandating a practical approach.
When faced with intervenor motions, the court should base its decision on "the nature of the case,
the issues which arise and the likelihood of the applicant being able to make a useful contribution
to the resolution of the appeal (which was the issue before the court at that time) without causing
injustice to the immediate parties".


15      This approach recognizes that there are cases that have an impact beyond the immediate
parties, so that other persons will want to be heard. In such cases, it is up to the court to ensure
that those persons that are permitted to intervene are actually bringing something to the table that
is both unique and relevant to the enquiry on the merits. As it is recognized that there will be some
degree of disruption of the process if others are added to the mix, their inclusion in what began
as a private process must be justified. Accordingly, a slightly different emphasis on the argument
will not suffice, on its own, to justify granting intervenor status (see Stadium Corp. of Ontario v.
Toronto (City) (1992), 10 O.R. (3d) 203 (Ont. Div. Ct.)).


THE EVIDENCE and ANALYSIS
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16      There are two moving parties, and each must be considered in its own right. Before
examining the particular circumstances of each, I point out that the Township did not attend or file
any evidence regarding these issues, although I was advised that they supported the intervenors.
Further, there is currently a motion pending before a judge by the Sierra Club of Canada, to be
added to the proceeding as a friend of the court pursuant to Rule 13.02. That motion is not opposed
by Terratec or by the Township.


Environment Voters (Voters)


17      According to the affidavit of Stephen Best, a member and director of Voters, that entity
is an Ontario non-profit corporation. It promotes environmental protection, wildlife conservation
and animal welfare. It appears that the group's major function to-date has been to campaign in
elections to support political parties and elected representatives with a record that demonstrates
a dedication to those causes.


18      Mr. Best resides in the Township. He states that, if granted leave to intervene, Voters will
submit the following to the court:


• the issue raised on the application is one that affects other municipalities, who have already
or may currently be considering the enactment of their own by-laws regarding the application
of biosolids;


• that Provincial Policy Statement (1997) issued under Section 3 of the Planning Act is
relevant to the exercise of powers by Ontario municipalities in the passage of by-laws that
affect environmental protection. Section 2.4.1 of the Policy Statement reads:


The quality and quantity of ground water and surface water and the function of sensitive
ground water recharge/discharge areas, aquifers and headwaters will be protected or
enhanced;


• the township in an environmentally sensitive area.


     They also plan to provide the court with the following:


• various studies and public opinion polls on the reaction of citizens to environmental
concerns, as they will also argue that these studies are relevant "in identifying the public good
to be served by the by-law";


• evidence regarding Terratec's record of infractions of Ministry of the Environment
regulations pertaining to biosolid spreading, including the fact that have pleaded guilty and
have been fined "numerous times" as a result.
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19      Mr. Best's evidence also speaks to the fact that the Township has an extremely small tax base,
such that the costs of defending its by-law "could be" a significant burden. There is no evidence
from the Township with respect to this issue.


20      Mr. Best's affidavit is supplemented by his evidence on cross-examination. From that, we
learn that Voters is actually a subsidiary of an organization known as Animal Alliance, which
primarily focuses on issues involving cruelty to animals. While Animal Alliance has 10,000
"supporters" (people who have made a financial donation) throughout the country, Voters is a small
organization, which was only formed in 1999, with about 1,500 supporters. Although it is a non-
profit corporation, it is not a recognised charitable institution.


21      Voters' policies are essentially developed by Mr. Best and his colleague, Ms. White. When
cross-examined on this point, Mr. Best stated (question 29):


We're talking about a small organization here. Okay. Essentially it's myself and my colleague
Liz White and we will develop the policies and we will develop the - the politicians we will
be supporting or opposing and before we actually proceed down that road it will go to the
Board of Directors, the trustees, a small Board of trustees and they say yes or no.


22      The board of trustees numbers eight. Apparently, this is the process that was followed in
this case. As a resident of the Township and a member of the Coalition involved in lobbying the
Township for the by-law, Mr. Best was aware of these issues and brought the intervention proposal
to Voters.


23      Although Animal Alliance has intervened in court proceedings where animal rights were
in issue, neither Animal Alliance nor Voters has sought to intervene regarding biosolid regulation
before this application. As far as Mr. Best is aware, he may be the only member of Voters that
resides within the Township.


24      On the basis of the above, Voters does not appear to qualify under (a) of Rule 13.01(1).
Although they, along with many environmental groups, may be interested in the outcome of
these proceedings, they do not have a "real, substantial and identifiable interest" (see Ontario
(Attorney General) v. Dieleman (1993), 16 O.R. (3d) 32 (Ont. Gen. Div.)) in the subject matter of
these proceedings. Voters' counsel suggests that "as this is what they do and are - they promote
environmental policies", that suffices to give them an interest. I cannot accept that submission.
There are myriad of interest groups that also exist to promote sound environmental policies and
practices. There must, therefore, be something more to the threshold than simply being a supporter
of the cause, or all of these groups would qualify under the first part of the test. Voters is a
relatively new and small group. Its 1,500 supporters bear that designation by virtue of having made
a financial donation. They have not been polled regarding their views with respect to this particular
issue and Mr. Best could not state with certainty that the group is even aware of their attempted
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intervention in this application. Voters does not have a history of working in this particular area
and no demonstrable track record as a group that advocates on behalf of environmental causes. In
my view, they lack a "real, substantial and identifiable interest" in the outcome of this application.


25      On these facts, it is also difficult to see how the group could be adversely affected by the
outcome of this application. While Mr. Best resides in the Township, there is no evidence that any
of its other supporters do. For the most part, this application appears to raise issues that concern
Mr. Best. He, personally, may well have an interest in and be affected by its outcome. That interest
is best represented by the Township, which is governed by an elected body, responsible to its
constituents. They can speak for him.


26      Accordingly, in my view, Voters does not even meet the threshold under the first part of
the analysis.


27      Having made this finding, it is not necessary for me to consider the second step in the
process, to assess what Voters could bring to the table that is unique and relevant so as to justify
their interjection into these proceedings. I do note that in this area, Voters would have fallen short,
as well. In his affidavit, Mr. Best spoke of five things that Voters planned to introduce to the court.
The first issue they raise is the effect of the application on other municipalities. Voters is a small
organization that was only formed recently. There is no suggestion in the materials that they have
any particular insight into how other municipalities might view these issues or the position they
would adopt. There is no evidence that they are empowered to speak for those municipalities, each
of which is free to bring their own motion to intervene, if they so choose.


28      Mr. Best then speaks of a Provincial Policy Statement under the Planning Act, stating
that Voters would want to make submissions about it. Mr. Best conceded on cross-examination,
however, that he had never read the Act nor consulted with an expert in the field. As a result, Voters
does not appear to have any special expertise in this area that can add to the debate.


29      Mr. Best refers to various studies and public opinion polls that Voters wishes to put before the
court to support their submission that the Township is an environmentally sensitive area. As Voters'
evidence contained no details regarding what these studies and polls consisted of, I questioned
counsel as to the purpose that could be served by this material. He conceded that the polls would
not be relevant to any of the matters in issue in the application as currently framed.


30      The studies, Mr. Best conceded, are, in large part, found in the public domain, or are not
specific to biosolids. As he stated, they are not "unique" to Voters. It is also difficult to understand
how studies regarding "the public good" have a place in a debate about the interplay of provincial
and municipal legislative powers.
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31      Mr. Best also stated on cross-examination that he was an informed layman rather than an
expert regarding environmental issues. Without expertise of their own, it is difficult to see how
any of these materials or submissions could advance the inquiry.


32      In terms of relevant evidence, the recitals to the by-law suggest that the Township has already
been provided with relevant material and that they have held meetings and received submissions
from the public. The by-law was not passed in a vacuum. While the Township may not be averse
to having Voters along for the ride, there is no evidence that they need Voters' help or, more
importantly, that Voters can provide it.


33      Further, in terms of legal submissions to be made to the court, in view of the position taken
by both parties to the application, the Sierra Club stands a good chance of being added as a party to
the proceedings. This organization, with fairly widespread support, has a history of intervening in
court proceedings. It is expected that, if they succeed with their motion, they will promote the same
objectives as Voters and they are well placed to make submissions regarding environmental issues
and the interplay between the levels of government in regulating operations such as Terratec. In
her affidavit in support of the Sierra Club's motion, Kate Kempton, vice president of the board of
directors of the Sierra Club of Canada, states:


Sierra Club of Canada wishes to make submissions on issues concerning the appropriate role
of municipalities as the local government in a multi-level system of government; on the proper
interpretation of the Municipal; act, 2002 in light of the decision in Spraytech v. Hudson,
and on the application of the precautionary principle by local decision makers in light of
Spraytech v, Hudson and other jurisprudence.


34      Finally, Voters wants to introduce evidence regarding Terratec's record of alleged non-
compliance. On the application as it is currently framed, it is difficult to see how that could be
relevant to an inquiry into the validity of a by-law. For the most part, that type of evidence could
only be intended to create atmosphere, not appropriate with respect to an application of this nature.


35      There is no evidence before the court to suggest that Voters has access to any factual
information that is relevant to the inquiry that the Township would not have or could not easily
obtain from them. Mr. Best did concede that if Voters fail to achieve intervenor status, they would
continue to assist the Township by providing funding and information. There is also nothing to
suggest that they would take a position that would differ from that of the Township, who, no doubt,
will seek to support its own by-law. On the basis of all of the foregoing, I find that Voters should
not be added as an intervenor to these proceedings.


Melancthon Citizens Coalition (the Coalition)
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36      The Coalition's evidence was presented by way of affidavit from John Parr, also a resident
of the Township. He states that the Coalition was incorporated as a non-profit corporation on
December 22, 2002, to "foster and advance" the Township's interests and to "conduct research and
investigations" into problems connected with ownership and development of real property" in the
community. Essentially, the Coalition is a residents' association.


37      Mr. Parr states that the by-law was promulgated (in May 2002) as a result of a "citizens'
initiative", in which the Coalition participated. He fails to explain how a group that was formed in
December 2002 could have had input into a by-law that was passed 7 months earlier.


38      Mr. Parr explains that, while farmers and rural residents, who make up the majority of
the Township's population base, are comfortable spreading animal and local septic sludge on
agricultural fields, they feel differently about "sewage sludge", his term for biosolids. According to
this witness, the by-law was passed to address the issue of sewage sludge from urban areas, which
may contain a host of undesirable elements, such as hospital waste, industrial waste and poisons.
The Coalition's concern appears to be the potential danger of such materials being deposited in
their environmentally sensitive region.


39      Cross-examination of Mr. Parr (inclusive of responses to undertakings) disclosed that only
64 of the approximately 950 households in the Township were paid-up members of the Coalition,
and another 7 households were unpaid supporters". Mr. Parr also advised that he, his wife and
one other were effectively the driving force that got the Township interested in this issue as a
result of the information regarding biosolids that they gathered and provided to the Township. He
also attended the meetings referred to in the opening recitals of the by-law and encouraged the
Township to pass this by-law


40      Mr. Parr agreed that he had already assisted the Township by providing all of the information
the group had obtained to support passing of this by-law, though most of it was publicly available.
He agreed, as well, that even if the Coalition were not granted intervenor status, it would likely
continue to provide the Township with up-dated information regarding these issues as it becomes
available.


41      It is conceded by Terratec that the Coalition meets the threshold as set out in subrule 13.01(1)
(a). As property owners/residents within the Township they do have a direct interest in the subject
matter of these proceedings. When we turn to the second part of the test, however, I am not satisfied
that they should be added to these proceedings for the following reasons:


• the Township is a party, and there is no reason to believe that it will not adequately
represent the interests of Township residents (see Pickering (Town) v. Metropolitan Toronto
(Municipality), [1995] O.J. No. 1467  (Ont. Gen. Div.)). The Coalition, or at least the Parrs,
appear to have some influence with the Township, as they were instrumental in bringing the
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by-law into existence in the first place. There is nothing to suggest that the Township will no
longer accept their information or advice;


• the Coalition has no particular expertise to bring to the proceeding. As a recently formed
group, they have relied on the work of others, available in the public domain, and they now
plan to go out and acquire more up-to-date information. This is not a expertise that they have,
on hand;


• in terms of ensuring that the Township has the benefit of their work, they can and plan to
make the results of their research available to the Township, as they have done in the past;


• they currently have no unique and relevant material to contribute to this proceeding nor do
they have a perspective that would not be shared by the Township and the Sierra Club.


42      On this basis, although the Coalition meets the threshold, I am not satisfied that they can
make a contribution of such a nature as to outweigh the burden of bringing an additional party to
these proceedings. As a result, their motion, too, is dismissed.


43      At the end of the day, I am left with Mr. Best and Mr. Parr, two individuals who have a strong
desire to do what they believe to be the right thing. Each has worked in his own way to promote
what each perceives to be sound environmental practices and policies, particularly, in this case,
as they affect their own community. Courts, however, exist to resolve disputes between parties.
From time to time, others are permitted to interject themselves into court proceedings, to bring
additional relevant evidence forward or to add their particular relevant perspective. These persons
should only be permitted to do so if they meet the test set out in the Rules, regardless of their
intentions. In this case, I am not persuaded that either of these organizations meets the test.


44      For all of theses reasons, this motion is dismissed.


45      At the conclusion of the hearing, I advised counsel that they could approach me for assistance,
in writing, if they were not able to agree as to costs. That offer will remain open until November
14, 2003.


Application dismissed.
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